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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their Strategic Report on Virgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 3 1 December 2019,

Fur the purposes of this Strategic Report, Directors” Repont and financial statements. the Virgin Media Finance
PLC group will be referred to as “the group™. Virgin Aledia Finance PLC the endty will be referred to as “the
company ™. the group headed by Virgin Media Inc. will be referred to as “the Virgin Media group™. and the group
headed by Liberty Global pic will be referred to as “the Liberty Global group™

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary undertaking of Virgin Media Inc. ("Virgin Media™) which is itself a
whotly -owned subsidiary of Liberty Global ple ¢ “Liberty Global™).

PRINCHPAL ACTIVITIES
The Virgin Media group operates under the Virgin Media brand in the t nited Kingdom (LK) and ireland.

The group provides broadband interner. fixed-line telephony. mobile and broadcasting services in the UK and
Iretand to both residential and busiress-to-business (B2B) customers. The group is one of the UK s and Ireland’s
largest providers of residential broadband intemet, video and fixed-line telephomy services in terms of the
number of customers. Fhe group believes its advanced. deep-fibre cable access network enables it to offer faster
and higher quality broadband services than its digital subscriber line. or DSL. competitors. As a result. it
provides its cusiomers with a feading. nevi-generation broadband senvice and one of the most advanced
interactive television services available tn the UK and irish markets.

I he group provides mobile services 10 its customers using a third-party network through mobile virtual network
oporatary (NMYNO; arrangements, )

In addition. through the Virgin Media Business brand. the group offers a broad portivlio of B2B vuive, data.
internet, broadband and managed services solutions to smail businesses. medium and large enterprises and public
sector organisations in the UK and Ireland.

A1 31 December 2019, the group provided services o b million residential cable customers on its nevwork, The
group provides mobile telephony services to 3 million contract mobike customers and 0.3 million prepay mobile
customers over third party networks. At 31 December 2019, over 8490 of residential customers on the group’s
cabte network received multiple services and 62% were “triple-play ™ customers. receiving broadband internet.
video and fixed-line telephony services trom the group.

Libeny Global is an international provider of broadband internetl. video. fixed-line telephony and mobile
communications  services to  residential  customers and  businesses in Europe.  Liberty  Global's
operalions comprise  businesses that provide residential and B2B  communications services in (i) the
LU'K and Ireland through Virgin Aedia. tii) Belgium through Telenet and (iii) Switverland. Poland and Stovakia
through UPC Holding. In addition, Liberty Global owns a $0% non-controtling interest in the VodafoneZiggo
IV, which provides residential and B2B communications servives in the Netherlands, '

At 31 December 2019, Libermy Global’s operations owned and operated networks that passed 25.8
million homes and served 230 million resenue pencrating units, consisting of 9.3 miliion broadband
internet subscribers. 8.3 million video subscribers and 7.4 million fised-line telephony subscribers. In
addition, Eiberty Global also served 6.3 multion mobile subscribers,

The principal activity of the companmy is to facilitate the group’s financing structure by implementing the group's
capital munagement policies. making and factluating external borrosings and holding invesunents in subsidiary
companies. The company °s investments include substantially all of the Viegin Media group’s trading operating
compartics.

The group’s reportimg segments are based on its meted ol internal reporting 10 Liberty Global and the
information used by its chielenecutive officer. who i the chiel uperating decision maker. or CODNL 1o evaluate
segment pertormancee and make capital allocation decisions
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

For the vear ended 31 December 2019, revenue increased by 0.3% to £5.168.1 million from £5,150.3 million in
2018 primarily as result of an increase in residential cable revenue and B2B revenue. See further discussion of
revenue under “Perfirmance against Key Performance Indicators” below,

Cost ofF sales increased by 5.3% 1o £1.708.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, from £1.621.3 million
in 2018. Cost of sales increased during 2019, compared to 2018 mainly driven by an increase in programming
and copyright ¢costs primarily due 1o higher costs for certain premium and or basic content. an increase in
internet and access costs primarily due to an increase in imerconnect and roaming costs offser by a decrease in
mobile handset and other device vosts due to the effect of lower sales volumes and a lower average cost per
handset sold.

Gross profit decreased by 1.9%, 1o £3.460.1 million for the vear ended 31 December 2019. from £3.528.8 million
fur the vear ended 31 December 2018 primarily due to the reasons detailed above. Gross margin has decreased
by 1.5% 10 67.0% [or the year ended 3t December 2019 from 68.5% for year ended 31 December 2018,

Administrative expenses decreased by 14.9%6 10 £2,381.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, from
£2,800.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. This was partly driven by the release of an impairment
on network asscts of £424.7m, pantially offset by an increase in depreciation associated with property and
equipment additions related to the installation of customer premises equipment and the expansion and upgrade of
our nerworks and other capial initiatives. In addition, related-party fees and allocations. related to our estimated
share of the applicable costs incurred by Liberty Global's subsidiaries increased 1o £277.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019, from ££56.9 million for the year ended 31 December 20E8. These charges generally
refate 1o management, finance, legal. technology and other corporate and administrative services provided to or
by our subsidiaries. [n addition there was a provision for litigation of £104.7 million related 1o a VAT matter in
the UK recognised during 2018,

Finance income decreased to £487.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, from £753.7 million for the
vear ended 31 December 2018, The lower interest income arising due to lower average interest rates on related
party loan receivables from other Liberty Global group undertakings and the impact of the swrengthening of
pound sterling against the US dollar in 2019 compared to a weakening in 2018, which resulted in lower foreign
exchange gains in 2019 than gains made on the fair value of the derivative financial instruments in 2018,

Finance costs decreased to £886.) million for the vear ended 31 December 2019 from £1.008.9 million for the
vear ended 31 December 2018, The decrease in costs was principally driven by the impact of the strengthening
of pound sterling against the US dollar in 2019 compared to a weakening in 2018, which resulted in lower losses
on the tair value of derivative financial instruments in 2019 than foreign exchange losses in 2018. In addition
there was an overall decrease in interest pavable due 1o lower average outstanding third party debt and lower
weighted average interest rates.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the ycar ended 31 December 1019

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Performance against Key Performance lndicators
Revenie
Ruesidential and B28 revenue includes both subscription and non-subscription revenue.

Cable subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services. Cable non-
subscription revenue includes. among other items. channel carriage fees. installation revenue. late fees and
revenue from the sale of equipment.

Residential mobile subseription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for angoing services.
Residential mobile non-subscription revenue includes, among other items. interconnect revenug and revenue
from sales of mobile handsets and other devices.

B2B subscription revenue represents revenue from services to certain small or bome otfice (SOHO) subscribers,
SOHO subscribers pay a premium price 1o receive expanded service levels along with broadband internet. video
and lixed-line telephony or mobile services that ate the same or similar to the mass marketed products offered to
residential subscribers. B2B nonesubscription revenue includes revenuse from business broadband internet. video.
fixed-line telephony, mobile and data services offered 1o medium to large enterprises and on a wholesale basis,
10 other operators.

(her revenue primarily includes broadeasting revenuc.

Revenue by mujor category tor the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 was as follows:

09 2018 [ncrease
Revenue: £ million £ million (decrease)
Residential revenue
Cable 3.665.7 3,638 4 08
Mobile 635.9 6635 1.1
Total residential revenue 4.321.6 43019 2.5 %
B2B Revenue 775.3 778.0 (0.3,
Other revenue 71.2 70.4 1.1°%
5.168.1 S.150.3 03%

The increase in residential cable revenue is due 10 an increase in both the average number of RGLUS ' ¢ ~Revenue

Generating Units™) and increased ARPL 7 (= Average Revenue per t nin™:

e Total RGLs tncreased due to the net effect of an inceease in the average number ot broadband
internet, and fixed-ling telephony RGE 5. offset by a decrease movideo RGE s,

=  The increase in ARPU is primarily attributable 1o the net effect of higher ARPU from broadband
internet and video services. oifsel by lower ARPU trom tised-line telephony services and an
adverse change in RGL mix,

3 TEEAuE pevErdl g nn o5 Enaraliy 3 Fas T nian s,nes ke Seta RN e T S B S T S TRV T ] 20
sty N Tvine g o e IR A LI RSP -
cemtRGL Tt Tab e SR RRAGY MR 3,080 NG SR I41 300D 43 e te GBI ELY DUEC G 0 T R Lk b s
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continned)

For the year ended 31 December 2049, mobile revenue decreased to £635.9 million from £66 3.5 million in 2018,
The decrease in mobile revenue relates to a decrease in non-subscription revenue from mobile handset sales,
which typically generate relatively low margins. partially offset by £5.8 million of revenue recognised during
2019 in connection with the sale of rights 1o future commission payments on customer handset insurance
arrangements. This is partiafly offset by an increase in residential mobile subscription revenue primarily due to
an increase in the average number of mobile subscribers, partially offset by lower ARPL ip the UK.

The decrease in B2B revenue is primarily due to lower revenue from data services. installation revenue. revenue
related 10 business network services and revenue from wholesale fixed-line telephony services. partially offset
by an increase in upfront revenue recognised in association with long-term leases of a portion of our network and
an increase in the average number of broadband internet SOHO RGU's in the UK.

The increase in other revenue is largely due 1o an increase in broadeasting revenue in Irefand.

Summuary: rexidenticd cable statistics

Selected statistics for the group’s residential cable vustomers are shown below:

2019 2018
Total cable customers 5.953.500 S046.600
Cable products:
Broadband internet 5,649,200 3.600.300
Video 3,967,800 4.143.100
Fixed-line wlephone 4,940,600 4,923,500
Total cable products 14.557.600 14.666.900
Cable products per customer (i) 2.45x 247
Triple play penctration 60.8% 63.0%
Cable ARPL (ii) £51.34 £51.04

(i} Each telephone, television and broadband internet subscriber directly connected to the Virgin Media group's
network counts as one product. Accordingly, a subscriber wha receives both telephone and television services
counts as two products. Products may include subscribers seceiving some services for free or at 4 reduced rate in
connection with promotional offers.

{it) Cabte ARPU is calculated by dividing the average monthly subscription revenue texcluding interconnect
fees. channcl carriage fees and late fees) for the indicated period. by the average of the opening and closing
numbet of Customer Relationships tor the period.

The tota! number of cable products fefl to 14.552.600 a1 31 December 2014 from 11.066.90k at 31 December
2018, representing a net decrease in products of 109,301,

Swmmeary mohile statistics

Selected statistics for the group's mobile customers are shown below:

2019 NHE
Postpaid mobile customers iy 3.013.200 2744300
Prepaid mobile customers (i) 263900 370,764
Total mobile customers 3.277.100 3.121.0060
AMobife ARPU () £9.19 £9.61

(i) Our \lobile Subscriber count represents the number of active subscriber identitication module (SINM) cards in
service rather than services provided. For example, it a Mobile Subscriber hiss both a data and vowe plan on a
smartphune this would equate 1o one Mobile Subscriber. Aliernatively, a subscriber who has a voice and data
plan lor a mobile handset and a data plan for a laptop (via a dongle) would be counted as two Mobile

5
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Subscribers, Customers wha do not pay a recurring monthly fee are excluded trom our Mobile Subsceriber counts
after a 30 day period of inactivity.

i) Mobile monthly average revenue per user (“Mobile ARPU ™) is calculated by dividing the average monthiy
mobile subscription revenue texcluding sales and late fees) tor the indicaied period by the average of the
opening and closing balances of total mobile subscribers in service for the period.

The zroup added 268.900 postpaid subscribers in 2019, Growth in postpaid subscriptions was ofTset by a lower
prepaid base, resutting in an pverall ingrease in the group’s mobile base of 156,100 in 2019,

FINANCING
As of 31 December 2019, the group had £12.494% mitlion of financiai liabilities compared with £12.745.6

milion as at 31 December 2018, The principal changes to financial lizbilities during the year are discussed as
fullows:

In May 20019 Viegin Media Secured Finance ple issued (iy $823.0 mllion (£622.0 million) principal amount of
2029 VAL Dollar Senipr Secured Notes and (i) £300.0 million principal amount of 2029 v\ 3,239, Sterling
Senior Secured Notes. Each series of notes was issued at par and matures on May 15, 2029, The net proceeds
from the issuance of these notes were used o redeem in full (a) £387 0 million outstanding priacipat amount
under the 2025 VAL 5.5% Sterling Senior Secured Notes. 1hy S3545 million (£267.3 million) ourstanding
principal amount under the 2025 VA1 Dollar Senjor Secured Notes and (c) £30008 miltion outstanding principal
amount umler the 2024 % N Sterling Senior Notes. o contiection with these transactions. we recognised a loss on
debt modification and extinguishment ot £37.4 mitlion.

In July 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued an additional $600.0 million (£452.4 million) principal
amount of 2029 VM Dellar Senior Secured Notes at 101.75% of par. The met proceeds frome the issvance of
these notes were used to redeem in full (1) $447.9 million {£337.7 million} outstanding principal amount under
the 2021 vt Dollar Sendor Secured Notes and {iiy £107.1 million outstanding principal amount under the 2021
VAL Sterling Senior Secured Notes. In August 2019, we issued an additional £40.0 million priacipal amount of
2029 VAL 5,25% Sterling Senior Secured Notes at 103% of par. the net proceeds from the issuance of these
fiofes wete used 0 redeent an equal vutstanding principal amount of 2029 V3L 6.25% Sterling Senior Secured
Notes. In connection with these transactions, we recognised a net loss on debt modification and extinguishment
of £23.3 million.

In October 2019, Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited entered into v A\ Facility N, a $3.3600.0 million (£2.488.1
million) term loan facility. and ¥M Facility O, a €750.0 milkon (£635.0 million) termn loan facility, both issued
af Y9.75% of par. and Virgin Media Secured Finance Limited issued £400.0 million principal amount ol 2030
VA Sterling Senior Secured Notes at par. The net proceeds from these transactions, opether with cenain other
tunds. were used to (a) prepay in full the $3.300.0 million (£2.563.3 million) vutstanding principal amount vh
AL Faciliny K and (b redeem in full (1) $1.000.0 million (£754.0 million} cutstanding principal amount of the
2026 VA 3.25% Dollar Senior Secured Notes and 123 £300.0 million outstanding principal amount of the 2023
VAL 5123 Sterling Senior Secured Notes. In connection with these trunsactions. we recognised a net foss on
debt modification and extinguishment of £53.3 million

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

e group s esposed 1o volatilin inoars cash 1ows and camings resulting from changes in interest rates and
toreign currency exchange rates, The group has entered into various derivative instruments with a number of
counterparties o manage this volatility o its cash flews and earnings.

| he eroup has entered into cross-cufrency interest fate sWaps to manage inerest rate and toreion exchange rate
currency exposures tesulting from the variable and fixed rates of interest paid on Jollar deneminated  debt
ubligations and movements in fair value on certain of its £ .5 dollar denominated debt. Additionally, the group
has entered into interest rate swaps 1o inanage interest riute exposures resulting from the variable rates of interest
paid on sterling denominated debt obligations and movements in fair satue on certain of its sterling denominated
debt. The group has also entered imo U8, dolfar forward rate contracts to Mmanage toreign ¢xchange rate
currensy exposures related to certain committed and fureeasted purchases. See note 21 o the group financiad
statements for further information on the group’s derivative insttuments
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Financial risk management

Details of the financial risks and how they are managed are outlined in note 20 1o the group financial statemems.
The principal financial risks faced by the group are credit risk. interest rate risk. foreign eschange rate rish and
liquidity rigk.

Principal aon-financial risks

Virgin hMedia Finance PLC is a member of the Virgin Media group, which manages the principal non-financial
risks and uncertainties and is headed by Virgin Media [nc. These rishs. among others. are discussed in more
detail in Virgin Media Inc.’s annual veport. The principal non-financial risks include the following:

+  economic and business conditions and industry trends in the L nited Kingdom (UK and freland:

= the competitive environment in the cable teltvision. broadband and telecommunications industries in the
UK and Ireland including competitor responses to eur products and services:

= fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates:

+ instability in global financial markets, including sovereign debi issues in the European Union (EU) and
related fiscal reforms:

< consumer dispusable income and spending levels. including the availability and amount of  individual
consumer debt:

*  changes in consumer television viewing and broadband internet usage preferences and habits;

= consumer acceplance of our existing service offerings. including our cable ielevision, broadband internet,
lixed-line telephony and mobile and business service offerings, and of new technology, programming
alrernatives and other products and services that we may offer in the future:

=  the group’s ability 10 manage rapid technological changes:

= the group’s ability to maintain or increase the number of subscriptions to our cable television, broadband
internet. fixed-line telephony and mobife service offerings and our average revenue per household:

+  the group’s ability 10 provide satisfactory customer service, including support for new and evolving
products and services;

*  the group's ability 10 maintain or increase rates to our sebscribers or to pass through increased costs o our
subscribers:

= the impact of the group’s future financial performance. or market conditions generally. on the availability,
werms and deploy ment of capital:

«  changes in. or fallure or inability 10 comply with. government regulations in the UK and Ireland and adverse
oculcomes from repulatory procesdings:

*  porernment imervention that impairs the group's competitive position. including any intervention that
would open the group’s broadband distribution networks o competitors and any adsverse change in the
group’s accreditations or licenses:

+  the group’s ahilin 1o obtain regulatory approval and satisthy other conditions necessary to close acquisitions
and dispositions. and the impact of conditions imposed by competition and other reguwlaton authorities in
vonnection with acquisitions:

+  the group's abilin 1o successfully acquire new businesses and. if acquired. o inteeraie, realise anticipated
efficiencies from, and implement our business plan with respect to. the businesses we have acquired or thay
we expect 10 acquire:

= changes in laws or treaties relating 1o wxation. or the interpretation thereol. in the EK and Ireland:

7



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
far the vear ended 31 December 2019

PRINCIPAL RIS

AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

+  changes in faws and government regulations that may impact the availability and cost of capital and the
derivative instruments that hedge certain of the group’s financial risks:

< our ability to navigate the potential impacts on gur business of the UK s departure from the ELIZ

< the ability of suppliers and vendors (including ous third-party wireless network providers under the group’s
VNG arrangements) 1o timely deliver guality products. cquipment, software. services and access:

+  the availability of astractive programming for our video services and the costs associated with such
programming:

+  uncentaintizs inherent in the development and intepration of new business lines and business strategies:

+  the group's abiliy w adequately forecast and plan future network requirements, ncluding the costs and
benefits associated with the Network Extension:

o the availability of capital for the acquisition and or development of welecommunications networhs and
services:

«  problems the group may discover post-closing with the vperations. including the intesnal controls and
financial reporting provess, businesses we qeguire.

o leakage of sensitive customer data:

+  the outcome of any pending or threatened litigation:

»  the lass of key emphoy ees and the availabiliny of qualificd personnel:

+  changes in the nature of key strateyic refationships s ith partners and joing venturers:

+ adverse changes in public perception of the ~Virgin®™ brand. which we and others license from Virgin
Enterprises Limited. and any resulting impacts on the roodwill of customers toward the group: and

«  events that are outside of the group’s control. such as political unrest in intemnational markets. terrorist
attacks. malicious human acts. naturat disasters. pandemics or epidemics (such as the coronavirus (COVID-
19} and other similar events.

Brexit

The UK's departure from the EL ceuld have a material adverse effect on our business. financial condition.
results of operations or liquidiny. On 23 June 2016, the UK held a selerendum in shich volers approved. on an
advisory basis. an exit from the Lt . commaonly referred 10 as “Brexit™.

fhe LK formally exited the EL on 31 Januan 2020, and has now entered into a transition period until 31
December 2020, during which the UK and the L will negrotiate to formalise the future UK-LL relationship with
respedt to @ number of matters. most notably, tade. Although the UK has ceased to be an ELY member, during
the transition period their trading relationstip witl remain the same and the UK will continue to follow the B8 s
rules. such as sccepting rulings from the European Court o Justice. and the UK will vontinue to contribute (o the
FU7s buduet,

| neestainty remains as w0 what specific lerms ol separation nlay be agreed during the (ransition penod. B is
possibly that the UK will fait to apree 1o specific separation terms with the EU by the end of the wamsition
period. which, abscnt eatension. may tequire the £ K 1o leave the B under a so-called ~hard Brevit™ or “no-deal
Brevit” without specitic agreements on trade. finance and viher hey elenents
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND L NCERTAINTIES {conrtinued)

The foregoing has caused considerable uncertainty as to Brexit's impact on the free movement of goods,
services. people and capital between the UK and the EU. customer behaviour, economic vonditions. interest
rates., currency exchange rates. and availability of capital. Examples of the potential impact Brexit could have on
Liberty Global group’s business, financial condition or results of operations include:

s changes in foreign curmency exchange rates and disruptions in the capital markets:

s shortages of labour necessan to conduct our business. including our Network Extension in the UK

»  disruption to our UK supply chain and related increased cost of supplies:

* aweakenad UK economy resulting in decreased consumer demand for our products and services in the
UK:

* legal uncertainty and potentiaily divergent national Jaws and regulations as the UK determines which
EU iaws and directives to replace or replicate. or where previously implemented by enactment of UK
faws or regulations, 10 retain, amead or repeal; and

+  various geopolitical forces may impact the global economy and our business, including. for example,
other EU member states (in particular those member states where we have operations) proposing
referendums 10. or electing to. exit the EU.

COVID-1Y
In March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the recent outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
(COVID-19} to be a global pandemic. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been

imposed by povernments worldwide. including travel restrictions, restrictions on social activiey and the
shutdown of non-esseatial businesses.

These measures have adversely impacted the global economy, disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. While it is not currently possible te estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
preventative measures taken 10 contain or mitigate its outbreak, an cxtended period of global economic
distuption could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations in
future periods.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Pending joint venture tramsaction

On 7 May 2020. Libenty Global entered iMo a Contribution Agreement with. among others. Telefonica. $SA
(Telefonica). Pursuant to this agreement. Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to form a 50:50 joimt venture.
which will combine Virgin Media‘s operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the UK to create
a nationwide integrated communicalions provider.

The completion of this transaction is subject to certain conditions, inctuding competition clearance by the
applicable regulatury authorilies. It is anticipated that the transaction will close around the middte of 2021, The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination eights. including a right of the parvies o wrminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within 1wenty-four months following the date of the agreement.
which may be extended by six months under cerain circumstances.

Financing transactions

In May 2020, Virgin Vedia Trade Receivables Financing ple. a 1hird-party special purpose financing entity, was
created tor the purpose of tavilitating the offering of certain notes, These notes are codfaterahised by certain trade
receivables of A irgin Media. creating a variable interest in which Virgin Vedia is the primary beneficiary and,
accerdingly. Virgin Media, and ultimately Liberty Global, are required to vonsulidate Virgin Media Irade
Receivables Financing ple. The offering of these notes resulted in net proveeds of £214.4 miliion.
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (continued)
In June 2020. Virgin Media compleled vatious tinancing transactions. as further described below.
Senior notes transactions

The group issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of 3675 million. The net proceeds. together with the
May 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €460 mitlion and $388.7 million outstanding principal amount of
2025 senior notes.

The group issued an additional 2030 senior aotes with principal amounts of $230 million £300 million. The net
proveeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeern in full $497 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £43.1 million cutstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and {2) for general corporate purpuses.

The new secured aotes rank pari-pissu with the group’s existing secured notes and subject 10 certain exceptions,
share in the same guaraniees and security granted in favour of its existing secured notes.

Senior secured notes transactions

I he group issued 2030 senior secured potes with principal amounts of 3650 million and £459 million. The net
proceeds from the jssuance of these notes were used (1) o redeem in full £325 million ousstanding principal
amwunts of existing 2027 senior sevured notes, (21 to redeam in full £360 aullion vustanding principal amounts
of existing 2029 senior secured notes. (3 £80.0 million of the £521.3 million outstanding principal amount of
existing 2025 senior secured notes.

The new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing senior secuared notes and senior secured
credit facility. and subject to certain exceptions, share in the same guaraniees and security granted in favour of
its existing senior secured notes.

\ endor financing notes traasactions

Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes 111 Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media Financing (11 Company )
and Virgin Vedia Vendoe Financing Notes |V Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media Financing IV
Company. and together with Virgin Media Financing 111 Company. the 2020 VM Financing Companies) were
created for the purpose of issuing certain vendor financing notes. The 2020 V! Tinancing Companies are third-
party special purpose financing entities that are not consotidated by Virgin Media or Liberty Global.

Virgin Media Financing 11E Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts o £500 million and
£400 million. Virgin Media Financing IV Company issued vendor tinancing aotes with principal amounts ot
300 million. The nel proceeds from the Jupe 2020 Vendor Financing Moles were used by the 2020 V3
Financing Companies to purchase certain vendor-financed receivables ol Virgin Mledia and its subsidiaries from
previvush -existing third-party special purpose financing eotities (the original VAt Financing Companies) and
sarious other third parties.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

T he ditegtors wilf contineg (0 review management policies {0 fight of changing trading and market conditions.
Further detait of the tuture owdook of the group. is provided in Virgin Mediz ine"s Ninancial siatements and
annual report for 2019, which are available from the company secretary at Viegin Media, 500 Brook Drive.
Reading. { nited Kingdom, RG2 60 L and on Liberty Global's sebsite at www libern global com.

SECTION 172 5T AVENMENT

This statement is inended to disclose how our directors have approached and met their responsibilities under
S172 Companivs Act 2006,

tre line with ! iberty Glabal™s goat of eatancing the fong-term value for the benefit of is sharcholders. the

directors of the Virgin Media oversee the mansgement of the group, te help assure that the interests o our
sharcholders are served.
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SECTION 172 STATEMENT (continued)

The directors of the group. apply the Corporate Governance Guidelines {page 15). essential to our business
integrity and performunce. Therefore, as part of group operations as a whole cansider:

s long-term consequences of degisions:

s  cmployees’ interests;

*  business relationships with suppliers and customers:

*  the impact of our operations on the environment and communities in which we operate: and

= the need to act fairly between shareholders.

The level of engagement of the directors is critical in the group’s successiul investment in the infrastructure and
platforms that empower our customers to make the most of the digital revolution and connect to the
enatertainment. experiences and people they love. We believe that our scale and synergies with vur partners help
bring the best connectivity and entertainment to our customers and. during 2019, the directors provided
thoughtful guidance 10 ensure that we enhanced and expanded our networks wisely. investing with purpose in
the technalogy, talent and territories with the most potential.

Customers/Partnerships — Virgin Media provides its customers with a leading. next-generation broadband
service. one of the most advanced interactive television services available in the UK and Irish markets and
mobile services. We believe our refationships with our partners help us deliver unique products and services 10
our customers. The continued strategic involvement by the directors in these decisions to help foster these
relationships is critical W the group’s long wrn sugcess.,

Responsibility — Commuonity & Environment — As pant of Virgin Media’s strategy. we are committed o
growing a responsible and sustainable business. Qur vision of using digital 10 make good things happen focuses
on two pillars; growing responsibly and sustainably and doing more good with digital. As outlined in the
Directors’ Report, we have outlined five sustainability goals to ensure that our growth and contribution to the
LK is delivered in a way that's good for people and the environment.

People - At Virgin Media, we know bailding an inclusive environment is essential 1o our growth. We're working
on building a fully inclusive cuiture, celebrating everybody’s individuality and differences. We want to empower
our people, so they feel valued, limitless and inspired to help build meaningful connections. The Directors”
Report provides further information on Virgin Media's policy on employment and disabled employees.
Consideration of these factors and other relevant matters is embedded into all Virgin hedia group decision-
making, strategy development and risk assessment throughout the y ear. Further information is available on our
website: https:'www.virginmedia.com'corporate/sustainability .

On behalt of the board

(et D

R G VicNeil
Direetor

28 Sepember 2020
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Directors’ Report
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the group and company for the year
ended 3| December 2019,

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

T he group made a protit for the vear. alter tax. of £377.) million (2018: £384.6 million). The directors have not
recommended the payment of a dividend 1 2018: £nib.

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS

The directors who served during the year and thereafier were as follows:
W 1 Castell (appointed 9 September 2010, resigned 9 Aarch 2020)
R 13 Dunn (resigned 9 September 2019}

MT Eries

MO Hifzi

R G MeNeil tappointed 9 March 2020)

T Mochridge (resigned (1 June 2019)

A C Murray (appointed 18 July 2019, resigned 5 August 2019)
S-P Paseu tappointed 3 Alarch 20204

C B E Withers tappointed 23 Aprit 2020

I'he directors of the company have been indemnified against Hability in respect of proceedings brought by third
parties. subject to the conditions sel out in ke Companies Act 2006. Such qualitying third party indemnity
provision is in force for directors serving during the financial year and as al the date of approving the Directors’
Repar,

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES

The yroup remains committed to the continuing, introduction and practice of progressive employment policies
which reflect changing business, social and emplovee needs.

The group 2ims to ensure that gvervone connecled to it is treated fairly and equally, whether they are a current or
former member of staff, job applicant. customer or supplier.

Nobody should be discriminated against. cither directly or indirectly, on the grounds of wender. gender
reassignment, marital status. pregnancy. race. ethnic origin. colour, nationality. national origin. disability. sexual
orientation. religion or belief, age. political affiliation or 1rade union membership. Vhe policy applies to anyone
who works for, who has worked for or who applies to work for Virgin Media or its partners. That means
permanent, temporary, casual or part-time stall. snyone on a fixed-term conrract. agency statl and consultants
working with the group, ex-employees and people apphying for jobs. This applies to all aspects of employ ment.
including recruitment and training.

The group gives full consideration 10 applications from employees with disabilities where they can adequately
tulfi! the requirements of the job. Depending on their skills and abilities, employecs with a disabilits. have the
same apportunities for promation. carcer development and training as other emplovees. Where existing
emplayees hecome disabled. it is the group’s policy to provide continuing employ ment whereser practicable in
the samie or an alternative position and to provide appropeiate Iraining 1o achieve this aim.

in Hng with Libeets Global's ~Code of Business Conduct’. the group’s employees and diredtors are expected to
display responsible and ethical behasiour. W follow comistently bath the meaning and intent of this Code and w
act with integrity in all of the group’s business dealings. Managers and supervisers are eapected to whe such
action s is necessany and appropriate to ensure that the group’s business pravesses dnd practices are in full
vompliance with the Code.
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EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employee Inyolvement

The Virgin Media group is dedicated to increasing the practical involvement of individuals in the running of its
business. It seeks to achieve this as follows:

all employees are encouraged to understand the aims of the Virgin Media group and of their own
business area and (0 contribute 1o improving business performance through their knowledge.
experience. ideas and suggestions. This requires strong communication to ensure that employees are
bricfed as widely as possible about activities and developments across Virgin Media. Fhe online news
channel. open forums. newsletters and team mectings play imponant roles in this. as do the
development of people management skills and the ongoing conversations about performance and
development which underpin mid-year and year-end reviews:

the Virgin hledia group ensures that alt ¢mployees are invelved and consulted through “Voice™ which
operates al a natiostal, divisional and local level. It enables employees and employers to have an open
and transparent relationship with a flow of information. It is focused around sharing information.
involving employees in decision making, gaining access to knowledge and experience or resolving
differences of opinion. Involving employees in decision making enhances confidence and job
satisfaction. creates a sense of belonging and empowerment, reduces stress and impacts positively on
wellbeing.

The Virgin Media group fosters a team spirit among employees and their greater involvement by offering
participation in bohus or local sariahle reward schemes and team deselopment opportunities. Virgin Media alse
vperates various tecognition schemes which are designed to reward employees for behaviours which are
vonsistent with the Virgin Media values and has a volunteering scheme which allows employees to take a day
each year to volunteer with a charity or organisation of their choice. The group remains committed to the
continuing introduction and practice of progressive employment policies which reflect changing business, social
and employee needs.
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ENVIRONMENT AL AND SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES

Virgin Media is committed to growing a respunsible and sustainable business. T'his means ensuring that our
growth and contribution 1o the | 'K s delivered in a way that’s good for people and the environment.

In 2013, we set hive sustainability goals to:
e Create opportunities for §{0.G0G smali businesses to grow in the UK’'s economy through digital:
»  lmprove the sustainabilin performance of every new product:
»  Grow our business without increasing our carbon footprint
e Nurture an engaged work force which represents the diversity of our customers and communities, and

«  Suppont one million disabled people with the skills and confidence tu get inta and stay in work by the
end of 2020.

The first tbur goals form part ot our *5 in §° sustainability goals and our vveraH Digital for Good™ strategy
which concluded in 2019. The fast goal. to support a million disabled people. will run until the end of 2020.

Lach goal 15 owned by a member ol the Virgin Media bxecutive Commigtee and we have a dedicated
Sustainabiiity team which facilitates and communicates our progress to becoming a more sustainable business.

Wo're pleased to say that we made positive progress against all our five woals last year.

While growing our business. we continued to cut our operational carbon footprint (Scope | and 2) with a
reduction of 45% since 2014 across UK and lreland. For the first time we sourced 100% of vur contracied
electricity trom renewable sources, We also made significant strides towards our zero office waste w landfill
rarget. with only 3% going 10 landfill compared 1o 10%0 in 2018,

Scope’s Support 10 Work employmem programme. funded by Visgin Media, helped thousands of disabled
jobseekers last year. hlore than 340,000 disabled people were provided with advice. skills and contidence to
tind the right job tor them via the scheme's self-service and tailored programmes.

We're nuw in the process of developing a new strategy and a set of long term sustainabilits targets which align
10 the key material issues as identified by our people. customers and the communitics we serve. This will be
published fater in 2020,

Sirgin AVledia communicales updates on pertormance and hey highlighis through its dedicated sustainability
website: www virginmedia.com-sustainability.

GOING CONCERN

As Virgin Media Finatce PLO s either a direct or indirect parernt of all of the trading companics i the Virgin
Media group. these vonsoliduted financial statements include substantially all of the trade and assets of the
wverall Virgin Media group, Whilst forecasts and projections. which take account of reasonably possible changes
in trading performance. have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC proup fevel. they have been
prepared for the Virgin Media proup as a whole: 1hese forecasts and projections showed that cash on hand.
together with cash from operations and the undrawn revolving credit facility . are expected to be sutficient for the
Virgin Media group's and hence the group's cash requitements through to at least 12 months from the date of
this report.

Taking into account these forecasts and projections and after making enqguirics, the directors have a reasonable
enprectation the group has adequate support and resources o continue in operational existence lor the foresceable
future. ’

tor these reasons the directors continue Lo adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.
Cuonsideration of the potential impact of COVIN- 19 has not alered this vonclusion.

14
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CORPORATE GOVERNAMNE .
The group is committed to conducting business with honesty, integrity and respect. Corporate governance affects
the way the proup directs its relationship with its stakeholders, The group believes that the highest standards of
corporate governance are essential to the group’s business integrity and performance. The group has adopted a
number of policies and provedures to suppon solid corporate govemnance in every area of the group’s operations.
Corporate Governance Guidelines adopted by the Liberty Global Board of Directors serve as a framework for
Board governance over the affairs of the group for the benefit of its shareholders. These include Code of
Business Conduct. Code of Ethics. Audit Committee Charter. Compensation Commitice Charter. Nomtnating
and Corporate Governance Committee Charter and Succession Planning Committee Charter.

Further information on Curporate Govemance is available to the public on Liberty Global's website at
www.libertyglobal.com. or under the heading “Corporate Responsibility™. The information on the website is not
part of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit
information. being information required by the auditor in connection with preparing its report. of which the
auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and the group’s auditer. each director has taken
all the steps that he/she is obliged to take a5 a director in order to make himself herself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish thal the auditor is anare of that inlormation.

AUDETOR

KPMG LLP will be re-appeinted under section 41872) of the Companies Act 2006,

Signed on behalf of the board of directors

/

C B E Withers
Director

Approved by the directors on 28 September 2024

(¥ )



Virgin Media Finance PLC

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilitics in respect of the Strategic Report, the Directors® Report
and Financial Statements

for the year ended 3§ December 2019

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors” Report and the group and parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations,

Company {aw requires the directors o prepare group and parent company fTnancial statements for cach {inancial
year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with |laternational
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopled by the LUh and applicable
faw and have clected 1o prepare the parent company financial staiements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicable law (LK Generalls Aceepted Accounting Practice). including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framewark.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satistied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their protit or loss for that
period. In preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements, the dicectors are cequived to:

*  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentiy;
+  make judgements and estimales that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent:

* for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EL:

*  for the parest company Il ial sux . state whether applicable ( K accounting standards have been
followed. subject 1o any material departures disclosed and explained in the finanvial statements;

e assess the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going voncern. disclosing, as applicable.
matters reluted 1o going concern: and

* use the going concern basis of accounting uniess they cither intend to liquidate the group or the parent
company or to cease operations. ur have no realistic altemative but vo do so.

I'he directors are responsibie for keeping adequate accounting records that are sefficient to show and explain the
parent company s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
parent company and enable them 10 ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006,
They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free Irom material misstalemen, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are eeasonably open to them 1o safeguard the assets of the group and jo
prevent and detect fraud and other irepularities.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC
t OQur opinion is ynmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC ¢~ the Company ™) for the year ended 31
December 2019 which comprise the group income statement and statement of comprehensive income. group
balance sheet group statement of changes in equity. group cash flow statement. company balance sheet.
company statement of changes in equity and the related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2 of the
group financial statements and note | of the company financial statements.

In our opinion:

+ the financial statements give a true and [air view of the state of the Groups and of the parent Company s
affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the Group's profit for the ycar then ended:

s the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union:

* the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with L'K accounting
standards. including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

« the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (TI1SAs (UK and
applicable Jaw. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled cur ethical responsibilities under.
and are independent of the Group in accordance with. UK ethical requirements inciuding the +¥RC Ethical
Standard as applied to listed entities. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
approepriate basis for our opinion. » '

2 Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of materisl misstat

Key audit matiers are those matters that. in our protessional judgement. were of most significance in the audit of
the financial stalements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not
due to fraud) identified by us. including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
allocation of resousces in the audit: and directing the efforts of the engagement team. ~These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In arriving at our audit opinion above. the key audit
maners. in decrzasing order of audit significance, were as follows:

Group: Capitalisation of costs associated with construction and installation activities

The Risk  Ohverstutement of Profits

Capitalisation of both internal and external costs incurred (part of which s included in the net book value of
plant. property and equipment of £6.099.9 m (2018; £5.423.0 m)) associated with the capital projects undertaken
by the group inyvalve estimation of the amount of 1ime and costs that should be capitalised  The most significant
risk is that the group may insppropriately capitalise construction and installation costs, The hey risks in
determining if construction and installation costs qualify for recognition as an asset, include whether the costs
are direetly ateributable 1o bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by the group: it is probable that future cconomic benefits associated with the
item will How Lo the group. and if the cost can be measured reliably.

1 he effect of these matters is that, as part of vur rish assessment, we determined that carry ing amount of
Netwarh assets of £3.504, 1 m has a high degree of estimation uncertaints . with a potential range of reasonable
outcomes greater than our materialiny for the financial statements as a whole, and passibly many times that
amount.
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Cur Besporiae
Our procedures included:

¢onirol uperations We evaluated the design, implementation and iested operating effectivencss of key internal
controls in place used for identitying which construction and installation costs should be capitalised,

Hersonncl imerviewy  We chaltenged the amount of internat costs capitalised during the sear by comparing to
budyets. interviewing department heads to determine the level of time individuals have spent on capital items.
and analy sed the changes to significant estimates utilised by the group to determine the amount of internal costs
to be capitalised (iF any 1, and other changes in the business with a potentiaf impact on cost capitalisation during
the year.

Tests of details - For both internal and externat costs capitalised we selected a sample of plant, property and
equipment additions on cousts capitalised and assessed the nature of the costs thereby assessing the
appropriatenegss of the group’s vost capitalisation conclusions.

Parent Company: Recoverability of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries

Fhe Fivk  fow risk high value:

The carry ing amount of the Company s investments in subsidiaries of £4.699 4 m (2018: £4.699.4 m) represents
69,6 ol the company 's total assets, The recoverability is not at a high risk of significam missiatement or
subject o significant judgement. However. due o their materiality in the context of the finuncial statements. this
is considered to be the area that had the greatest effect on our overall audit of the parent company.

ur response
Qur procedures included:

lests of detaif We compared the carrying amount of material investments with the relevant subsidiaries” balance
sheet to identify whether their net assets. being an approximation of their minimum recoverable amount. were in
exvess of their carrying amount and assessing whether those subsidiaries have historically been profit-making.

Aaxesaing subsidiony audits We assessed the work performed by the subsidiary audit teams of those subsidiaries
where audits are performed and considering the results of that work on those subsidiaries™ prolits and net assels.

3 Qur application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit

Materiabity for the group financial statements as a whole was setat £51.6m {2018; £51m). determined with
reference 10 a benchmark of revenue of £5.168m. of which it represents 1.0%a (2018: %oy,

Materiality tor the parent Company financial statements as a whole was set at £31.000.000 (201 8: £30.000,000),
determined with reference (o v benchmurk of Company total assets. of which it represents 0 8%0 ¢ 2018: 0.7%).

We agreed o repon 10 management any corrected or uncorrected identi fied misstatements exceeding
£2,300.000, in addition v other idemificd misstatements that warranted reposting on qualitative srounds.

i he group’s reporting components comprise the UK aod Ireland. we subjected the LK component o a full scope
audst for group purposes and the (rish component to specificd risk-focused audit procedures. 1 he latter was not
individually tinancially signiticant enough 1o require a full scepe audit for greup putposes. but did present
specific individual risks that needed to be addressed.

4 We have nothing to report on going concern’

[he [Directors have prepared the financial statements wn the going convern basis as they do not ifiend 10
hiquidate the Compans or the Group or 1o cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Compam ™
and the Group's financial pusition means that this is realistic, They have also concluded that there are no
material uncenainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to cuntinue as a yoing concern for
at least ay ear from the date of appronval of the financial statements (the going concern period™.
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Our responsibility is to conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors” conclusions and. had there been a
material uncertainty related 10 going concemn. 10 make reference to that in this audit report. However. as we
cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may resuft in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made. the absence of reference to a
material uncertainty in this auditor's repont is not a guarantee that the group or the company will continue in
operation.

In vur evaluation of the Directors” conclusions. we considered the inherent risks to the Group’s and Company's
business model. including the impact of Brexit. and analysed how those risks might affect the Group’s and
Company ‘s financial resources or ability o continue operations over the going concern period. We evaluated
those risks and concluded that thes were not significant enough to require us to perform additional audit
procedures,

Based on this work. we are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concemn basis
of accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over
the use of that basis for a period of at least & year from the date of approval of the financial statements.

We have nothing to report in these respects. and we did not identify poing concern as a key audit matter.
5 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Anmusal Report

The directors are respensible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial
statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and. accordingly. we
du not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any Torm of assurance convlusion thereon.

Our responsibility is 10 read the other information and. in doing so. consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work. the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
statements or our audit knowledye. Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in
the other information:

Strategic report and directors’ report

Based solely on our work on the other information:

»  we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors™ report;

* in vur epinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements: and

»  in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

6 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

tL.nder the Companies Act 2006, we are required W report to you if. in our opinion:

» adequale accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

s the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retumns: or

«  certain disclosures of ditectors’ remuneration specified by law are not made: or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

W bave nothing 16 report in these respects.
7 Respective responsibilities

Directors™ respossibilivies

As explained morte tully in their statement set out on page 16. the directors are responsible for: the preparation ot
the financial statements including being satistied that they give a true and fair view: such inernal contrel as thes
determine is necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial statememts that are free from material misstatement.
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent Company's ability to continue as a going concern,
disciosing. as applicable. matters related to going concem: and using the going concern hasis of accounting
unless they cither intend 10 liguidate the Group or the parem Company or 1o cease operations. of have no realistic
alternative but 1o do so. ’
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Auditor’s responsibititiey

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error. and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s repor.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance. bid does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordancy
with 1S As (LK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Missiatements can arise from fraud or
errar and are considered material i€, individually or in agurepate. they coutd rc.mmably be expected to influence
the econemic devisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fller  description  of our  responsibiliics is  provided on the FRC's  website  at
wwiy fre.org.ub auditorsresponsibilities,

8 The purpose of our andit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

T his report is made solely to the Company s members. as & body, in accordance with Chupter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company 's members
those matters we are required to state W them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 1'o the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not avcept or assume responsibility w anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members. us a body. for our audit work., for this report. o for the opinions we have formed.

Kegestaosy

Katharine L.'Estrange (Senjor Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statetory Auditor
Charsered fecounsints
1 Sovercign Square
Sovereign Street
|eeds
LSI DA
q September 2020

20



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

Notes
Revenue 3
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Group operating profit 4
Finance income 7
Finance costs 8
Net finance costs
Profit before tax
Tax expense 9
Profit for the year
Other Compreheasive Income
Hems that will not be reclussified to projit or foss
Actuarial (losses} * gains on defined benefit pension plans 27
Tax on defined benefit pension plans 9

ftems thar will or may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Impact of movements in cash flow hedges 21
Exchange differences on the retranstation of foreigm operations

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity
holders
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent
“on-controlling interests

The notes on pases 23 to 75 form part of the financial statements.

All results refate to continuing operations.

2019 2018
£ miltion £ million
5.168.1 5.150.3
(1.708.0) 11,621.5)
336001 35288
(2.381.3) (2,800 )
1.078.8 7286
4874 753.7
_1886.0)  (1.008.9)
1398.7) 1235.2)
680.1 4734
(103.0) (88.8)
$77.1 3846
(7.2) 8.5
1.0 (L4

(6.2) 7.1

5.4 5.7

18.2 6.4

236 12,1
594.5 403.8
575.8 396.0

18.7 7.8

594.5 403.8




Virgin Media Fipance PLC
CGroup Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

Non-Current assets

Intangible assets

Property. plant and ¢quipment
Financial asscts

Trade and ather recenables
Deferred tax assets

Defined benefit pension plan asset

Current assets

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
taventoties

Cash and short term depusits

Total ussees

Current linbilities
Trade and other pay ables
Financial habi}ities
Provisions

Non-current labilities

Trade and other pay ables

Financial liabilities

Provisions

Detined benefit pension plan liability

Teotal liabilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves

Equity share capital

Share premiuny account

Other capital reserves

Unrealised pains and losses
Foreign curreney transiation reserve
Retained earnings

Virgin Media Finance PLO group sharepolders' equity

Non-controlliny interesdts
T'otal equity

The potes on pages 2% to 75 torm part of the financial statements,

Notes

12

13

15

it
17
19

16

19
27

22.24
24
4
24
24

31 December 31 December
2019 2018
£ million £ million
244403 25612
6.098.0 542310
54229 5.587.9
36.3 7.4
1.5344.2 1.645.3
’64 #9.7
15632} 15,3446
82.3 f43.1
LRUR 628.5
6 60.7
339 16.2
8219 848.3
16,4548 16,1931
{13919 tE.663 0}
(2.031.5) (2,013
13.6% 5.5
{3.626.8) 13.681.6)
126.8) 136.8)
410.463.5} 110,732.5)
1124 (F23m
(749 (7.8}
{10623, 1) (108010
(14.246.9) (14.582.6)
1.204.1 1.6t0.3
0.l Q.1
6259 6239
(20103.6} $2.099.1,
10,7 53
203 1.
3372.8 3.027.0
2 HA2 1.570.3
38.0 4.2
S04 1.610.3

These financial statements were approved by the directors vn 28 September 2020 and are signed un their bebalt

(oD

R G McNeil
Diregtor

Company Registration Number: 05061787
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Virgin Media Finrance PLC
Group Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019

019 2018

Naotes £ million £ million
Operating activities
Profit for the year . RYFR| i8d.6

ledjrstments fo reconcite profit fur the sear uttrebutable 1o cquity

hofders of the parent o nct cash inglow from aperating activites
Depreciation 1 1.046.7 1,036.9
Amortisation of imangible assets 10 193.1 185.8
{mpairment of network, assets (464 6 -
Net finance costs 548.2 432.5
Share-based payments 45.1 7.2
Income taxes 122.7 835
Gains on disposal of property. plant and ¢quipment (3.3) 2.5
Unrealised losses (ains) on derivative instruments 180.0 3011
Non-cash foreign exchange movements (14020.9) 3320
Decrease in (rade and other receivables 1674 143.5
Decreased increase) in inventories 6.1 8.1}
tDecrease)increase in prepaymemts and other assets (9.6 48.2
Decrease in trade and other payables 200 6.5
Increase in accruals. deferred income and other current jiabilities RITN 2484
Increase (decrease) i deferred income and other fong erm liabilities 1.4 25
Decrease in provisions 0.2 (240
Net cash inflow provided by continuing operating activities 1.887.5 2.205.3
Net cash inflow from operating activities 24646 25880
Investing activities
Purchase of property. plant and equipment 428.1) (431.8)
L.oans (o) repayment from parent and group undertakings (4449 1003
Proceeds on sale of property. plant and equipment 2.2 14
Avquisition net of cash acquired - 1300
Change in restricted cash ti6.51 15.5)
Interest received 284.2 338
Net cash outflow from investing activities 603 1) (22.8)
Fingncing activilies
Interest paid 161971 1641.2)
Settlement of ¢ross currency interest rate swaps 874 75.1
New borrowings, net of financing fees 3985 L9213
Repay ment of harrowings (3.7, (R R
Capital lease payments t48.3) (110
et cash outflow from financing activities 11.842.5) (23717
I ftect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents )3 (0.4
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 17.7 i6.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at | January 15 16.2 231
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December IS AN 162

T he netes on pages 25 w 75 Tosm pan of the Brawwial statements.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statcments of Virgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 31 December 2019 were
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 September 2020 and the Group Batance Sheet was signed
on the board™s behalf by R G McNeil. Virgin Viedia Finance PLC is a2 pubtic limited company incorporated and
domicifed in the UK. The company’s shares are not publicly traded although the Senior Notes issued by the
company are registered on the Luxembouey Stock Exchange.

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted by the group are set owt below and have all been apptied consistently
throughout the current year and the preceding year except as discussed below.

Basis vf preparation

Notwithstanding net curvent liabilities of £2,804.9 million and net fiabilities £2.608.3 million as at 31 December
2619 for the Group and Company respectively and a profit for the Group for the year of £577.1 million. the
financial statements have been approved on the assumption that the group remains a going concern. The
fotlowing paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have reached their conclusion,

It is Virgin Media's practice for operational and financial management to be undertaken at a group level rather
than for individual entities that are wholly owned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for
all of Liberty Global's wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. As pan of
normal business practice. regular cash fiow forecasts for both short and long term commiuments are undertaken
at group level.

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indirect parent of substantially all of the trading companies in
the Virgin Media group. these consolidated financial statements include substantially all of the trade and assets
of the overall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections. which take account of reasonably possible
changes in trading performance, have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC group level, they have
been preparcd for the Virgin Media group as a whole. These indicate that cash on hand, together with cash from
operations., repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn revolving
credit facilities, are expected [o be sufficient for the Group's cash requirements through to at least | 2 months
from the approval of these financial statememnts.

Whilst the detailed cash flow forecasts are prepared at the group level. the directors have also assessed the
position of the company. Notwithstanding net liabilities of £2.608.3 million as at 31 December 2019. this
assessment indicates that, taking account of reasonably possible downsides, the company will have sufficient
resources. through funding from fellow subsidiary companies to meet its liabilities as they fal! due for that
period.

As with amy company placing reliance on other group entities for financial suppont. the directors acknowledge
that there can be no certainty that this sepport will continue although. at the date of approval of these financial
statements. they have no reason 10 believe that it will not do so. Consequently. the directors are confident that
the Company will have sufticient funds 10 continue fo meet its liabilities as they fall due for at feast 12 months
trom the date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. Consideration of the potential impact of COV11)-19 has not altered Lhis conclusion.

Variable interest enfities

On 30 November 2018. in connection with certain Liberty Global group reorganisations. the group completed
the transfer of Libery Property Hokdco |1 imited and Liberty Property Holdeo [ Limited [rom the group w
Liberty Property Holdeo Ell Limited. another subsidiary of Liberty Global group outside of Virgin Media group.
Liberty Property Holdeo | Limited. Liberty Property Holdeo 1} Limited and Libeny Properts Holdeo I are
coliectively referred to as “the Libern Property Companies.” The assets held by the Liberty Property
Companies are used by the proup creating a variable interest in the Liberty Property Companies for which the
group is the primary beneficiany and. accordingly. the group is required to consolidate the Libeny Propern
Companies

[3*]
whn



Yirgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

New standurds, umendments and intery ] dopted by the group
The following standards and inlerpretations have been issued with an etfective date for accounting periods
beginning after the date of these financial statements:

in January 2016, IFRS 16, Leases (1FRS 161 was issued which results in lussees recopnising right-ofsuse
(ROU) assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position with additional disclosures about leasing
arrangements. {FRS 16 also ¢liminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases by
a lessee. The main impacts of the adoption of this standard are (i) the recognition of ROL and lease liabilities in
vur consolidated statement of financial position for leases previously accounted for as operating feases and (i}
the replacement ol operating lvase expense with a depreciation charge for ROU assets and interest expense for
lease liabelities.

This change resubts in a front-loaded 1otal lease expense versus the previous straight-line operating lease
expense.

The group adopted IFRS 16 on January 1. 2019 by using the modified retrospective approach. e group
applied the followiny practical expedients and options: ’

* Inransition. the group did not reassess which existing contracts are or contain leases. In addition, we
did aut use hindsight during transition:

e The group did not apply the practica) expedient that permits @ lessee to account for lease and non-lease
componeats in a contract as a single lease component and, accordingly. the group will continue to
account for these components separately:

s The group did not recognize right-af-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms of 12 months
or less: and

»  The group applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics,

Upon adoption of IFRS 16, on January [. 2019 the group recorded ROU assets of £201 million and lease
liabilities of £204 million. There was no impact (o the group’s retained earnings. The adoption of IFRS 16 did
not have a signiticant impact un the consclidated statements of profit or loss or cash lows.

£000
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at
31 December 2018 167.878
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 Januarny 2019 138.100
Add: finance lease tiabilities recoghised as at 31 December 2018 66,049
(Less): short-term leases nol recognised s a liability (17
Lease liabiliyy recopnised as at | January 2019 204,132

26



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Judpements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet dale and the amounts reported for revenues
and expenses during the ycar. The nature of estimation means that actuzl vulcomes could differ from those
estimates.

The most significant judgments and estimations used by management in the process of applying the group's
accounting policies are discussed below:

Impairment of inangible asseis
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are assessed for impairment annually and when such
indicators exist.

When value in use calculations are undertaken. management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculae the present value of
these cash flows. Where fair value less cost 1o sell is used. the valuation must represent the fair value of 1he
cash-generating unit in an orderly transaction between marhet participants under current market conditions, less
costs to sell.

Lieferred tax assets

Deferred 1ax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and allowances to the extent that i is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised. based upon the likely timing and the fevel of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Details of the measurement of the group’s deferred tax assel recognition and measurernent are provided in note
q

Praperty, plant and equipment

Depreciation is provided on all property. plant and equipment. other than freehold land, on a straight-line basis
at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated useful
life. Useful lives are reviewed annually and where adjustments are required. these are made prospectively.

The nature and amount of labour and other costs to be capitalised with respect to construction and installation
activities involves signiticant judgement. In addition to direct external and intemal labour and materials. the
eroup also capitalises other cosis directly aributable 1o the group’s construction and installation activities.
including dispalch costs. quality-control costs. vehicle-related costs and certain warehouse-related costs. The
capitalisation of these costs is based on time sheets. time studies. standard costs, call tracking systems and other
verifiable means that directly fink the costs incurred with the applicable capitalisable activity. The group
continuously monitors the appropriateness of its capitalisation policies and update the policies when necessary
to respond to changes in facts and circumistances. such as the development of new products and services, and
chunges in the manner that mstallations or construction activities are performed.

Ferir value measurement of fincenciud invirume nrs

Managemenlt uses valuation technigues to determing the fait value of financial mstraments i where active markel
quotes are not available) and non-fnancial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions
consistent with how market participants would price the instrument.

Management bases its assumptiuns on observable data as Far as possible but this is not alway s avaitabie. In that
<ase management uses the best intormation available. Lstimated fair values may vary from the aciual prices that
would be achieved inan arm’s length transactzon at the reporting date 4see note 21).



Virgin Media Firance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31| December 2019
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Ascounting policies (coatinued}

Basis of conselidution

Subsidiaries arc entities controlled by the group. The group controls an entity when it is exposed to. or has
rights o, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those retums through
its power over the emtity. In assessing control, the group takes into consideration potential voling rights. The
acquisition date is the date on which control is rransferred to the acquirer. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control comimiences until the
dave that control ceases. Losses applicable 10 the pon-controliing interests in a subsidiary are aliocated 10 the
non-controlling interests even il doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a defivit balance.

Acyueisitions under common control

Business combinations between entities that are under common controd are accounted for at book value. The
asscts and liabifities acquired or transferred are recognised or derecognised at the carrying amounts previoush
recognised in the group controlling shareholder's conselidated financial statements. The components of equity
of 1the acyuired cmities are added to the same components within the group equity and any gain. loss arising is
recognised directly in equity. )

33 Forris

Transactions efimi I ot o
{atra-group balances und transections, and any uncealised income and expenses arising fom intra-group
transactions. are eliminated Unrealised yans arising from wansactions with equity-accounted investees arc
climinated against the investment to the exient of the group's interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are
ehiminated in the same way as untealised gains. but onty to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.”

Forelpn currency trunslation

The group's consolidated financial stateanents are presented in pound steling. which is also the parent
company s functional currency. Pransactions in foreign curceacies are initially recorded in the local entity’s
functioral currency by applying the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction, Mlonetary assets and
liabitities denominated in foreipn currencies are retranslated av the lunctional currency rate of exchange rding
at the bulance sheet date. All exchange differences are included in the Group Income Statement, except where
hedge-accounting is applied and for ditferences on monetary assets and liabilities that form pan of the group’s
net investment in a foreign vperation. These are recorded directly in equity until the disposal of the net
investment, at which time they are reclussified from equity 1o profit er toss.

Non-monetan items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a toreign
vurrency are iranslated using the exchange rates at the date when the {air value was determined.

Goadwill

Business combinations. other than common control business combinations. are accounted for using the
acquisition method as at the acquisition date. which is (he date on which control is transferred o the group. The
wroup measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

the fair vabue of the constderation transferied: plus

the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree: plus

the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree. less

the net recognised amount {generally fair value) of the idenufiabie assers acquired and jiabdities
assumed.

. 8 = @

Costs related 10 acquisitions. uther than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securitics. are expensed
as meurred.

W hen the vveess is negative any egin on hargain purchase is recognised i profit or toss immediatels .
Any contingent consuderation pavable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition daw. I the comtingent

consideration s classified ay equits. 5t is not e ed and et t is aceounted for within equits.
Otherwise. subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or foss,




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

On a transaction-by-transaction basis. the group clects o measure non-controlling interests. which have both
present ownership interests and are entitled to a proportionate sharc of net assets of the acquiree in the event of
tiquidation, either ai its fair value or at its proportionate interest in the recognised amount of the identifiable net
assets of the acquiree at the acquisition date. All vther non-controlling inlerests are measured at their fair value
at the acquisition date.

Property, plant and equipment

Property. plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost includes costs directly attributable 1o making the asset capable of operating as intended.
Property. plant and equipment acquired through business combinations is initially recorded at fair value on
acquisiion.

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land. on a straight-line basis
at rates calculated 1o write off the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated useful life
as follows;

Network assets, cable plunt and equipment
Network assets - 3-30yeuars

Network assets includes construction in progress which is not depreciated and comprises of materials.
consumabies and direct fabour relatine 10 network construction and is stated at the cost incurred in bringing
cach product to its present location and condition. as follows:

Raw materials and consumables - Purchase cost

Work in progress - Cost of direct materials and {abour
Other fixed assets

Right-of-use property - Period of lease

Freehold property. other than land - 30years

Leasehold improvements - 20 years or, if less, the term of the lease
Fumiture and Fixtures - §5.12years

Computer equipment = 3-Syears

NMoter vehicles - § years

Labour costs relating to the design. construction and development of the network, capital projects. and related
services are capitalised and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the life of the refevant assets.

The carrying values of property. plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when ¢vents or changes m
circumstances indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable. The usetul lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and where adjustments are required. these are made prospectivety.

Impairment of intungible avsers and property, plunt und equipment

In accordance with [AS 36 fmpairment of Doaeldy', intangible assers with finite lives are amortised on a straight-
line basis over their respective estimated usefu! iives. and reviewed for indications of impairment at each
reporting date. If any such indicavion exists. or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required. the
group mahes an estimate of the asser's recaverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual assct. unless the asset dovs
not generate cash flows that are largeby independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable armount, the asset is considered impaired and is written
down o its recoverable amount.  |n assessing salue in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the rishs specific o the asset. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the
Group Income Staternent in those expense categories consistent with the function ol the impaired asset.

An assessment s made at each reporting date as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment fosses may no longer exist or may have decreased. It such indication exists. the recoverable amount
is estimated, A previously recognised impaioment Joss is reversed, other than on goodwill. only i1 there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss
was recognised.

29



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued )

Provisions for abilities and charges

Provisions are recorded when the group has a legal or constructive obligalion as a fesult of a past event for
which it is probable that the group will be required (o seitle by an outflow of economic benefits and for which a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed al each balance sheet
date and adjusted w reflect the current best estimate,

Where the effect of the time value of moeney is material. the amount of the provision is the present value of the
expetditures expected o be reguired ta settle the obligation.

Leases

On the fease commencement date. (i) a ROL! asset is recognised representing the right (0 use an underlyving
assel and tii) lease liabilities representing the group's obligation 1w make lease payments over the lease term.
Lease and non-lease components in a contract are generally accounted for separately.

The group initially measures lease liabilities at the present value of the remaining lease payments over the lease
werm. Options to extend or terminate the lease are included only when it is reasonably certain that the option
will be exercised. As most of the group’s keases do not provide enough information to determine an implici
interest rate, a portfolio level incremental borrowing rate is used in the present value calculation. ROU assets
are initially measured at the value of the lease liability, plus any initial direct costs and prepaid lease payments,
less any lease incentives received. .

ROU assets are penerally deprecialed on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the useful Jite
of the asset. Interest expense on the lease labifity is recorded using the effective interest method.

Policy applicable befure [ Junuary 2009

In the comparative period under IAS 7, the group entered into a lease under which it takes substantially all the
risks and rewards of bwnership af'an asset. the lease way treated as a finance lease.

The assets were recorded in the batance sheet as a fixed tangible asset and depreciated over their usefui
ceonomic Hves, Finance lease debtors were recorded in ihe balance sheet, and future instalmenis payable undey
finance leases were included within creditors, net of finance charges. Rentals receivable and payable under
these finance lease amangements are appurtioned. the finance elements were recorded in the profit and loss
account on a reducing balance basis and the capital elements reduced the outstanding iiability or asset in
accordance with the terms of the comract.

Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantiaily all of the benefits and risks of ownership remained
with the fessor, were charged to the profit and oss account on a straight line basis over the period of the lease,

Interest bearing loans and burrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recopnition, imterest bearing loans and borrewings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the eflective interest methed.

Gains and fosses anising on the repurchase. seftlemem of otherwise canceliation of Habilities are recogmised
respectively in finance income and ITnance costs,

Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and set oft against the
borrowings 10 which they refate. eferred finance costs are amortised over the wrm of the retated debt using the
effective interest method.
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2

Accounting pblicies {(continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The group has established policies and procedures 10 povern the management of its exposure to interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate risks through the use of derivative financial instruments, including interest rate
Swaps. CToss currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate contracts.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derisative contract
is entered inw and are subsequemly remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date.

Derivatives are recognised as financial assels when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair
value is negative.

The foreign currency forward rate contracts. interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are
valued using internal models based on observable inputs. counterparty valuations or market transactions in
either the listed or aver-the counter markets. adjusted for non-performance rish. Non-performance risk is based
upon quoted credit default spreads for counterparties to the contracts and swaps. Denivative contracts which are
subject to master netting arrangements are not offset and have not provided. nor require. cash collateral with
any counterparty.

While these instruments are subject to the risk ot loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates, these
losses would generally be offset by gains in the related exposures, Financial instruments are only used to hedge
underlying commercial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative financial instrurments for speculative
rading purposes. nor does it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with 4 risk
that is greater than the exposure to be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedpes the hedging relationship is documented at its inception. This
documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception
to be highly effective.

The group designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges. when hedging exposure to variability in the
fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments, or as cashflow hedges, when hedging
exposure to variability in cash flows that are either attributable 1o a particular risk associated with a recognised
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Detivatives Lthat are not part of an etfective hedging relationship, as set out in |IFRS 9. must be ¢lassified as held
for trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The treatimens of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upen the nature of the hedging relationship and are treafed as follows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the pain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly
in Other Comprehensive Income. while the ineffective portion is recognised in the Group Incume Statement.
Amounts taken o Other Comprehensive Income are reclassified 1o the Group [ncome Statement when the
hedged transaction is recognised in the Group Income Stalement, such as when a forecast sale or purchase
oceurs, in the same line of the Group Income Statement as the recognised hedged item. Where the hedged item
is the cost of a non-financial asset or Hability, the pains and losses previously accumulated in equity are
transterred 1o the initial measurement of the cost uf the non-financial asset or liabilinv. It a forecast transaction
is no longer expected 1o oceur. The gam or doss accumudated in equity is recognised immediately in the Group
Income Statement. | the hedging instrument expites or is sold. terminated or evercised without replacement or
rollover. or if its designation as a hedge is cevohed. amounts previously recognised in Other Comprehensive
Incomte remmain in equity vntil the forecast transaction occurs and are reclassitied to the Group Income
Statement. .
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Accounting pelicies (continued)

Fair value hedyes

For fair value hedges. the changes in the fair value of the hedying instrument are recogrised in the Group
Income Statement immediately . together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that
are attributable to the hedped risk. The change in the Fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the
hedged item attributable 1o the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the Group Income Statement relating to
the hedged dem.

IF the hedging instrument expires or 15 sold. terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or it its
designation as a hedge is revoked. then the fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged iem
arising from the hedged rish is amontised w profi or loss from that date.

inventories

Inventory consists of goods fur resale and programing inventories which are valued at the lower of cost or net
realisable value using the Rrst-in. first-out (FIFQO) method. Cost represents the invoiced purchase cost of
inventory. Net realisabie value is based on judgements. using currently available information abour obsolete.
slow moving orF defective inventory. Based upon these judgements and estimates, which are applied consistently
from period o perind. an adjustment is made 1o state the camying amount of inventory held for resale at the
lower of cost and net realisable vatue.

Trade and other recelvables

Our trade receivables are initialfy measured at fair value and subsequently reporied at amortised cost. net ol an
alfowance for impairment of trade revelvables. The allowanee for impairment of trade receivables is estimated
based upon our assessment of anticipated loss related to uncoltectible accounts receivable. We use a aumber of
factors in determining the allowance, including, among other things. collection trends. prevailing and
anticipated economic conditions. and specific customer credit risk, The allowance is maintained until either
payment is reccived or the iikelthood of collection is considered 1o be remote. For additional information
regarding our trade receivable and allowance for impairment of rade receivables. see note 13,

Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due 1o the large number of residential
business customers. We also manage this risk by disconnecting services to customers whose accounts are
delinguent,

Cunh und short term deposity

Cash and shon-term deposits in the Group Balance Sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand and shor-term
deposits with an original maturity of three moenths or less. For the purpose of the Group Cash Flow Statement.
cash and cash equivalents consist of vash and short term deposits as defined above. aet of owstanding bank
overdrafts.

Tax

Current income fax

Current tax assets and liabilitics are measured at the ameunt evpeeted 10 be ecovered from or paid 1o the
taxation authorities. based on tax rates and faws that are ¢nacted or substantivels enacted by the halance sheet
date.

Current income tax relating 1o items recognised directly iy equity is recognised in equity and not in the incone
statement. The directors periodically evdluate positions tahen in the tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject 10 interpretation and establish provisions where appropriate,
tncome by charged or credited 1 Other Comprehensive income f it relates o temns that are charged or
vredited to Other Comprehensive Tncome.
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Accounting policles (continued)

Deferred tux
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date,

Eeferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary diftferences. except:

¢ When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction. affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or toss.

* In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with invesiments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures. when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controiled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred 1ax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences. the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assels are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences. and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. except:

*  When the deferred tax asset relating 1o the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and. at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

» In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures. deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the toreseeable future and taxable profit witl be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no tonger probable that sufficient taxable profiv will be available to allow all or pan of the deferred 1ax asset to
be utitised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will atlow the deferred 1ax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled. based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the repernting date.

Deferred tax relating 10 items recognised outside profit or foss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in Other Comprehensive Income or
directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred s liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists w set ofF current tax
assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Pensions

The group contributes to the Virgin \ledia sponsored group personal pension plans for eligible emplosees,
Contributions 1o these schemes are recognised in the Group Income Stalement in the period in which they
become payable. in accordanve with the rules for each of the plans.

The group operates three defined benefit pensivn plans. which reguire contributions to be made w separately
administered tunds. The plans are closed (o new entrants,

The regular cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is attributed to individual vears using the
projected unit credit method. Variations in pension cost. which are identified as a result of actuarial valuations.
are amontised over the average expected remaining working lives of employees in proportion to their expected
payroll costs. Past service costs are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period or immediatels fthe benefits have vested.

[o%]
i
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! Accounting policies (continued)

When a settlement (eliminating all obligations for bencfits already aceruedy or a cartailment (reducing fulure
obligations as a result of a material reduction in the scheme mwembership or 4 reduction in future entitlement)
occurs. the obligation and related scheme assets are re-measured using the current actuarial assumptions and the
resultant gain of loss recognised in the Group income Statement during the period in which the sertlement or
curtaitment occurs,

The interest element of the defined benefit pension cost represents the change in presest value of scheme
obiigations resulting from the passage of time and is determined by applying the discount rate to the opening
present value of the benefit obligation. tahing inta account material changes in the obligation during the year,
The expected return on scheme assets is based on an assessment made at the beginning of the year of long term
marhet retums on scheme assets. adjusted for the effect of fair value of the scheme asseis of contributions
received and beaelits paid duting the year. The difference between the expected return on scheme assets and
the interest cost is recognised in the Group Income Statement.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period
in which they occur.

The detined benefit pension asset or liability in the Group Balance Sheet comprises the total for each scheme ot
the present value of the detined benefit obligation {using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds),
less any past service cost not vet recognised and less the fair value of scheme assets out of which the obligations
are 10 be settied directly. Fair value is based on market price information and. in the case ot quoted securities,
is the pubtished bid price.

Revenue recognition

Revenue earned from contracts to be recognised in line with performance obfigations based on a five-step
mogel.

On inception of the contract we idemity a “performanve vbligation™ fur each of the distinet poods or services
we have promised to provide (o the cusiomer. The consideration specified in the contrct is allocated to each
performance obligation identified based on their relative standalone seiling prices. and is recognised in revenue
as they are satisfied. The following table summarises the performance obligations we have identified for our
major revenue lines and provides information on the time of when they are satisfies and the related revenue
recognition policy.

uplront fioe resulls in gl I
el right, :

The wrowp s oblumd fomtire 4 can sapply ey ives
o 1o dhe customer premise as per the customer contract
This inciudes cabic plant and cquipmend insialiation
At the vuskones prommisg.

Hevenue line Performance obli Hevenue recognitiva poliey i
s SeRee revenuy - Cahie | Provisma of videoo broadband internet and Baed-fine Rovenwe for these cypes of serywees
} Networks tlephony senvices over our cable netwaork o shized evendy over the period
i CUSRITRTS, of the agreetient os the services are
; Performancy obiigutons are identiticd tor cach provided.
) L kit sers doe Qo whinh the vosioimer has wontracked
! L and ane considered b satistied over the time period
! | i theme servives are delivered
‘r Insallution and other | When the group enters into conteaets Lo proy ide These Kees are penerally detirred
| upond tees P anvices W eastmers, the group ollen Charges and recvpnised as revenue over the
) : instalLinion or ither uplront s, cuntractust periodd. or longer it the ’

Instrilation s notvonsidered as a wparae
pertormance ohligation,
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

1328 revenue Provision of dusl, soice and network solution The proup deter uptront instalbation
~ereices, including the sabe and maintenancy off an ceriain nonresurring fies
cquipment le business customers Installation chagpes | received on business-to-business !
arc chaegad in relativn 1o the provision of servives, contracts where we mainkain

vunership ol the instalied
Lhe group is ohliged to provide the customier with the | equipment. The deferred fees are
connectivity services and or eyuipment stipulated the | amontised o revenue on @

vuslmer contrwl straight-line busis, generally over

the longer of the wrm of the
Instatlatiun is oot considercd as a sepamite artungement of the expected period
periormance obligation ol perfrmance.

From time t time, we also enter
o agrecments with certain B2B
customers pursuant o which they
are proyided the right o use certain
chements of our petwork, Fthese
agreements are determined 1o
CoOmain a lease that meets the
criteria to be considered 4 sales-
g lease, we Tecognize revenue
from the kease compunent when
control of the network clement is
tmnstemed k the customer.

Muobile revenue ~ Priwision of minulcs. Wxts and data over our Mobike [he group reasgnise revenue from
Adrtime sy ices nelwork, mwbik: services in (he period in
which the related servives are
provided. Rewenue from prespay
customers is deferred prior to the

The group is ebliged 10 provide the customer with u
SIM which is provisioned with contracted allowances

ich manth. commencement of sernvices and
recopntsed as the sem s are
rendercd or usage rights expire.
Mohile revenue - Pronvision af mobile handset delivery to the customer. | Armangement consideration
Hand sets . . . . . . allocated o handsets is reeognised
I'he g:rm‘z!a v« :1hl|gc¢ii |l|.|' p;wu-ic dcil\‘cry ol muhike 15 revenue wher the gaeds hase
handscts as nequested by the customer. been detivered and titke has passed,

For customers under a mobile
handset instaliment vontrsct that is
independent o s mobile airtime
services contrael, revenus is
recopnised upon delivery

There are no material obligations in respect of returns, refunds or wareanties.

Consideration from mobile contracts is allocated to the aiftime service component and the handset component
based on the relatis e standalone selling prices of each component. When the group offer handsets and airtime
services in separate centracts entered into at the same tme. the group account for these contracts as a single
contract.

Incremental revenues are penerated based on usape tor calls and video on demand. The entity has a right to
consideration from the customer at an amount that corresponds directls with the value to the customer of the
entity s performance completed 1o date. therefore the entity recognises the revenue to the extent ta which it has
a right to invoice.

Fur subscriber promotions, such as discounted of free services during an introductory  period. revenue is
recognised uniformly over the contractual period if the contract has substantive termination penalties. 1f a
contract does not have substantive termination penalties, revenue is recognized only to the extent of the
discounted monthly fees charged 1o the subseriber. ifany.
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Accounting policies {continued)

Other income

friterest income is recopnised as interest acerves according to the effective interest method which uses the rate
tha exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the
net carrying amount.

Share-baved payments

The company is an indirect, whollyv-owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Inc. and Liberty Global ple. The
vompany has no share-based compensation plans. Employees render services in exchange for shares or rights
over shares {equity -settfed transactions} of Liberty Global ple common stock.

The cost of cquity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
which they are granted. The fair value of oplions and share appreciation rights are determined using the Black-
Scholes model. The fair valve of restricied share units is detennined using either the share price at the grant date
or the Monte Carlo model, depending on the conditions attached to the restricted share units being granted.
These transaction ¢osts are recopnised, together with a comesponding increase in either equity or amounts ewed
to parent undertakings, over the servive period, or, if applicable. over the period in which any performance
conditions are fuifilled. which eads on the date on which the relevant employees become Tully entitled to the
award (vesting date). The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at cach reporting date,
until the vesting date. reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that
are estimated (o ultimately vest. in the opinion of management at that date and based on the best available
information,

No expense is recognised for awards that do rot ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional
uypon a market vesting condition. which are treated as vesting imespective of whether or not the market
condition s satisficd. provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.
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Segment information

The principal activity of the company is to facilitate the group’s financing structure by implementing the group's
capital management policies. making and facilitating extermal borrowings and holding investments in subsidiary
cempanies. The company's investments include all of the Virgin Media group’s trading operating companies.

The Virgin Media group’s reporting segments are based on its method of internal reporting to the Liberty
Global group and the information used by its chief executive officer. who is the chief operating decision maker
{~CODM™). to evaluate segment performance and make capital allocation decisions,

It has been determined that the Virgin Media group comprises a single operating segment. This reflects how the
CODM reviews the results of the group’s business based on revenue and profitability measures.

There is no material difference between the revenuc presented 10 the CODM and the revenue of the Virgin
\ledia Finance PLC group. Revenue for the group was £5.168.1 million (2018 - £5.150.3 million) and was
entirely derived from the sale of poods and services.

(feographic Locations
The group's revenue by geographic location is sel out below:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
UK 4.765.5 4,757.7
ireland 4026 926
Towal 3.168.1 5,150.3
Group vperating profit
This is stated after charging (crediting):
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Depreciation of property. plant and equipment 1.004.7 1.027.4
Depreciation of right of use assets . o420 98
Total depreciation 1,046,7 1,016.9
Amortisation of inlangible assets 193.1 185.8
Rent of premises 9.8 8.2
Cain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (3.3} (2.3}
Cost of inventories recognised within vost of sales 2164 2323
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&  Auditor's remuneration

The group paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements and for

other services provided 1o the group.

Fees paid 1o the anditor $or audit and other services 1o the company are not disclosed in its individual accoums

as the group accounts are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis,

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and their associates for other services represents fees pavable for
services in relation to other statutory filings or enpagements that are required 10 be carried ot by the group's

auditors,

Audit services:
Statutory audit services - audit of the parent company and group
financial statements

Fees payable to the company's auditors and their associates for other services:
Statutory audit services - statutory accounts of the company's subsidiarics

6  Staff costs and directors’ emoluments

(a) Stafl costs

2019
£ mitlion

0.5

0.2
0.7

2018
£ million

(L]

0.7

Included in wages and salaries is a total expense for share-based paymenis of £48.3 million (2018 - £27.2
miltion). all of which arises from transactions accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

Further information on compensation of hey management persoancl s disclosed in the related party

transactions {note 28).

Wages and salaries

Sacial security costs

Pension costs - defined benefit scheme
Pension costs - defined contribution scheme
Total staf¥ costs

b Average staff numbers

The average manthly number of cmplasees during the year was:

Consumer

Support. evhnology and Insovation
Business

Lightning

Mobile

Total stafY numbers

2019 2018

£ million £ million
390.5 3919
36.6 36,2
1.6 38
276 4.5
6853 6764
2019 2018
™o, \g.
5856 6003
3.042 3254
2201 2390
887 863

52 13
12,948 13,578
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ich

Staff costs and directors' emoluments (continued)
Directors” emoluments

There were no other transactions with directors during the year.

Direciors’ remuneration
Amounts receivable under long term incentive plans
Total remuneration

Company contributions paid 10 money purchase pension plans

Highest paid director:
Remuneration (including awards receivable under long term incentive plans)
Company contributions paid 1o money purchase pension plans

Number of directors accruing benefits under money purchase plans
Number of directors who exercised share options under schemes
operated by ultimate parent company

Number of directors with shares received or receivabie under long
term incentive plans

Finance income

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000
3.938 3.332
1.510 455
5449 3.787
I8 10
2148 2243
9 10
2157 2.253
2019 2018
No. No.
3 3

3 4

3 4

Other finance income and interest on amounts due from group undertakings and related parties are recognised
using the effective interest rate method in accordance with IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments’.

Interest on amounts due from related panties
(iain on foreipn exchange

Gain on derivative financial instruments
Gain on fair value of financial instruments
Other finance incoms

Interest on pensions

Total finance income

39

2019
£ million

283 .8
200.7
0.6
23

1874

2018
£ million

334
437.5
0.8
0.4
l.6
753.7
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Fipance costs

interest payable is recognised using the effective interest rate method,

For the year ended 31 December 2019, loss on extinguishment of debl was £i88.8 million {2018 - £29.0
million) and telazed to the Tedemption premium paid and the write oit of deferred financing costs as a result of
the redemption of the senior nates, senior secured notes and senior credis Facilities from refinancing activities

during the year (see note 17).

Interest payable on:
Senior credit facility and vendor financing
Senior notes
Loans from refated partics
Loss on derivative financial instrume nts
L.oss on forcign exchange
Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on fair value of financial instruments
Interest payable on feases
Unwinding of discounts on provisions
Other interest and fees
l'otal finance costs

Tax
{a) Tax expense on profit before tax
Carvendt inceome 1ax:
LK taxes
Deferred income iax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Movement in deferred ax assets due to change in tav rate
Prior year adjustment

Total tax expense in Group incoma Statement

th) Revoncitiation of the total tux expemse in the Group Income Statement

2019 2018

£million £ million

2776 2494

515 918

- 0.3

306 .
. 326.1
188 8 29.0
RS ~

12.0 6.0

1s 1

23 5.2

3860 1.008.9
2009 2018
£ miltlon £ million
0.9 5.3
0.0 53
Yg 4 G991
3, {20.3)
7.6 3.7
102 %35
103.0 $8.8

Group Income Statement tay expense reconciliation to the slandard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%

(2018

19%04:

Profit before income tax

Profit multiplied by the Uk standard rawe of corporation
tax of 19%612018 - 19.25°n
I xpenses not deductible for tax purposes
Uttitisation of tax losses and other deductions
Onher
Novement in deferred tas assets due to change in ta riste
Adjustment relating o prior sears
Tutal tax expense recognised in the group mcome statement

40

2019 2018

£ mitlion £ mittion
680.1 473.4
129.2 89.9
6.7 154
138.21 110.9)

[ g9

IR (20.3)

7.6 4.7

103.0 88.8
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9 Tax (continued)

e} Reconcillation of the tinal tax expense

2019 2018

£ million £ miltion

Tax recognised in the Group Income Statement 103.0 88.8
Tax recognised in equity 1.0y 1.4
Total tax expense 102.0 90.2

{d) Recognised deferred tax

Recopnised deferred tax assets at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were as follows:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
UK deferred tax assets:

Depreciation and amonisation 1,370.1 1.499.9

Derjvative instruments b2 (6.7)
Net operating losses 1574 139.0
Other 5 131
Totat UK deferred tax assets [.544.2 1.645.3

The group has determined it probable that in fulure it will generate sufficient pre-tax profus to utilise
substantially all of its deferred tax assets related 1o unctaimed capital allowances.

In the March 2020 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will remain at the current 19%0 and not reduce
10 17% from | April 2020. This will have a consequential effect on the group's future tax charge. IF this tax rate
change had been substantively enacted at the current balance sheet date the deferred tax asset would have
increased by £182.3 million.

{e) Unrecognised deferred tax

Deferred tax assets in respect of the following amounts have not been recognised as there is not currently
persuasive evidence that there will be suitable taxable profits against which these timing differences will

reverse.
2019 2018
£ million . £ million
el operating losses 479.0 4159
Capital losses 1210406 12,1050
Other timing differences ' 3o 364.7
128976 128856

41
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% Tax (continued)

f) Movement in deferred tax balances
Novements in deferred tas during the year:

1 Junuary Recognised in Recopnised in 31 December

2019 income equity 2019

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Depreciution amf wnortisation 14959 (129.%) - 137401
Derivative insirunwents 0.7y 179 - 1.2
Net operating lesses [REAT] 18.4 - [
Other 13 8.5 1.1 5.6
16433 (102.4h 1.0 1.541.3

Sovements in deiermed s during the prior o

4 danuary Recognised in Recognised in 31 December

2018 income equity 2018

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Diepreciation and amortision 1.5377.5 177.8) - 14999

Perivative insruments o\ i13.6) - 6.7y
Netoperating lovses 1336 54 - 139.0
tnher 12.2 23 .4 13.1
1.730.2 (31.%) NiR)] 1.645.3
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10 Intangible assets

(a) Summary of intangible assety

Goodwill T Software Other Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Cost
At | January 2018 230001 387.7 nsg 2.909.5
Impairment - 8.6) - (8.6)
Additions .5 160.4 - 161.9
Disposals - t83.7) - (93.7)
Effect of movement in exchange rates 2.2 - - 22
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 23018 6458 2.7 29713
Impairment - 0.4 - (0.4)
Additions - 89.2 - 89.2
Disposals - (751 - (75.1
Effect of movement in exchange rates £12.6) - - 112.6)
At 31 December 2019 2.261.2 659.5 217 29724
Accumulated smortisation and impairment
At | January 2038 [38.0 178.8 1.2 3180
Amortisation charge - 17l 14.7 1858
Disposals - {9371 - 193.7)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 138.0 256.2 159 410.1
Amortisation charge - 162.0 1.1 1931
Disposals - (75.11 - {75.1)
At 31 December 2619 138.0 373.1 17.0 528.1
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 2,153.2 286.4 4.7 24443
A4 31 December 2018 2.165.8 389.6 3.8 2,561.2
At | January 2048 2162.1 4)8.9 20.5 2,591.5

The amortisation charge has been recognised through administrative expenses in the Group [ncome Statement.
th) Impairment of poodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are nol amonised. bul instead are tested for
impairment al Teast annually. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units. the assets of which are separately
operated and monitored. Nlanagement considers thal there are two reporting units relating o the group’s
operations in the 1K and Ireland.

1 he group evaluates the recoverable amount of the group’s reporting units. using a lair vajve less costs to sell
method. The group’s estimate of the recoverable amount is based primarily of obsenvable EBITDA multipies
for recent transactions and publicly —traded peer companics. which are Level 2 inputs in the fair value bierarchy
The group's 2019 goodwill impairment assessment determined that fair vilue exceeded the carrving value of
both of the group’s reporting units and as a result conciuded thal ne impairment to goodwill was required.
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1l Property, plant and equipment

Network
assels Other Toetal
£ million £ miltion £ million
Cost
At | January 2018 13,8433 3430 15.186.3
Additions I 1666 |6d.3 o L3330
On acquisition of subsidiary . ng - 0.8
Transfers ) 3.5 35 -
Effect of movement in exchange rates 7.8 1 8.9
Disposals 6183 13740 (655.7)
At 31 December 2618 and 1 January 2019 144317 [439.5 15.871.2
Lease opening balance adj i 10.5 136 .6 IREIA
Additions L00s 4 187.8 1.193.2
Effect of movement in exchange rates 143.5) 15.6) 149.4)
Disposals (799 (R (84263
At 31 December 2019 14.605.0 1.714.8 16.319.8
Depreciation
Al | Janvary 2018 92.129.6 0920.0 10,049.6
Provided durng the year LA 115.3 10309
Fransfer 16.1 (te.n -
Effect of movement in exchange rates 1.1 07 18
Dispusals 1616.7) (26.5) 1643.2)
At 31 December 2018 and | Januany 2019 94542 991.9 10.448.§
Provided during the year 890.0 156.7 1.046.7
Impatrment release (424.7) - {424.7)
Effect of movement in exchangs rates (230 (27 {258y
Disposals (779.3) (43.2) (822.5)
At 31 December 2019 CARNA 1.104.7 10,221.8
Net book value
At 3] December 2019 5.487.9 ol0.1 6.098.0
At 31 December 2018 4.977.5 415.6 542310
At} Januan 2048 1.713.7 423.0 5.116.7
The group did not capitalise any borrowings costs during the vear,
Inchuded in 'Other are the following net book values.,
2019 2038
£ million £ million
Frechold land and buildings 44 354
l.easehold land and buildings 29.] 298
Leasehold improvementa S0 621
123.1 127.3

I
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12 Financial assels

13 Trade and other receivables

2019 2018
£ million £ million

Non-current
Restricted cash 220 5.5
Deferred financing costs 16.2 14.5
Derivative instruments (see note 21) 4309 419
Amounts owed by related parties 49538 4.826.0
5422.9 5.587.9

Current

Derivative instruments (see note 21) 824 143.0
Restricted cash [IN] 0.1
82.5 143.1

Amounts owed by related parties are primarily in respect of loan notes receivable from Liberty Global Europe 2
Limited. a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Global plc that sits outside of the Virgin Media group, which
have an aggregate principal balance of £4,926.4 million (2018: £4.826.0 million). These comprise of principal
amount ouwtstanding of £1,501.5 million (2018: £1.501.5 million} which incur interest at a rate of 8.5% repayable
in Aprit 2023 and £3.4249 million (2018: £3.324.5 million} at a rate of 4.763% (subject to adjustment)

repay ahle in July 2023,

2019 20t8
£ million £ million
Non-current
Prepayments and accrued income 36.3 37.3
Onher receivables - 0.1
36.3 37.4
Current
Trade receivables 429.4 417.7
Amounts owed by parent and group undertakings 1.6 -
Amounts owed by related parties 353 46.8
Prepayments and accrued income 184.6 164.0
650.9 628.5

Prepayments and accrued income classified as non-current include long term telecommunications contract
assets with terms in excess of one year,

Current amounts owed by related panies are unsecured and repayable on demand.

I'tade receivables are non-interest bearing. are generally on 30-99 day terms and are stated net of provision for
non-recoverabilitn. The group's trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment
and it was concluded that a provision lor non-recoverabilinn of £19.5 million (2018 - £19.6 million} was
required. The carrving value of wrade receivables is considered to be a fair approximation of fair value.

[he allowance for doubtful accoumts is based upon the group’s assessment of probable luss related to
uncellectible trade receivables. The group uses a number of facters in determinmg the allowance. including,
among other things, collection trends, prevailing and anticipated economic conditions and spevific customer
¢redit rish, The alfowance is maintained until vither receipt of pavment or the likelihood ol collection is

considered to be remote.
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13 Trade and other receivables (continued)

MMovements in the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:

£ million
At § January 2018 334
Charge for the year 257
Litilised 1392
A1 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 19.6
Charge for the year 232
Utilised 23.0
At 31 December 2019 19.5
The apeing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
Neither
past due nor Balances past due
Total impaired <30 duys 30-60 days 60- 90 days >90 days
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
31 December 2019 1294 3246 346 244 6.8 39.0
31 December 2018 477 364 38.0 1.4 7.8 36.1
Inventories
2019 2018
£ million £ million
CGoods for resale RUAS 320
Programming inventony 237 28.7
Total Inventory 54.6 60.7

Cash and short term deposits

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for
varving periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
group. and earn intercst at the respective short-term deposit rates.  The fair value of cash and cash equivalents
including overdrawn cash book balances a1 31 December 2089 was £33.9 million {2018 - £16.2 million).

Cash at bank and in hand
Shor-term deposits

A6

2059
£ million

2018
£ million

16.1
Qi
16.2
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16 Trade and other payables

Current

Trade payables

VAT, payroll taxes and social security costs
Interest payable

Amounts owed to parent and group undertakings
Amounts owed to related party

Accruals and deferred income

2019
£ million

3343
1610
133.2
522
48.9
8423
1.561.9

2018
£ million

3750
148.9
197.7

36.7
63.9
§39.9
1.663.0

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally repavable on terms of up w 60 days. Trade payables.
interest payable and amounts owed 1o group undertakings are financial lizbilities which are excluded from note

17,

Amounts owed 10 group undenzkings and 10 related parties are unsecured and repayable on demand.

Newt-current
Other long term payabtes

019
£ million

26.8

Other lony term payables consist of property and restructuring costs provisions.

Financial liabilities

Current

Lease liabilities {sec note 18)
Current instalments Jdue on other debt
Derivative instruments {see neie 21)
Vendor financing

Non-current

1ease liubilities (see note 18)

Non-current instalments Jue on sentor eredit Taidit
Senior Aotes

Senior secured hotes

Non-current nstalments due on other dobt
Perivitive instruments (e note 213

Venduor linancing

Total financial liahilities

2619
£ million

335
101.5
133.6

1.762.7
20313

i88.0
Y9k 4
11873
44719
142.7
4028
724

[0 463 3
124945

2018

£ miltion

368

2018
£ million

5.7
712
LI

1.848.3
201301

384
15398
1.538.7
49867
260.5
2927
447
17325
12,7456
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17 Financial liabilities {continued)

Borrowings at 31 December were repayvable as fofiows:
019 2018
£ million £ million

Amounts falling due:

Within one year 1.8044 19840
In more than one year but not more than five years 340.2 9031
In more than Rve years 9.637.6 _ 94885
11,7823 T 123726
Luss: issue costs 53 1557}
Total borrowings TTIL7369 123169
Financial liabilities not classed as borrowings 7519 428.7
Toral financial tiabilities 12.494.8 12,7436

Financial liabilities not classed as borrowings include amounts payable to parent and group undertakings.
obligations under leases, interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rale swaps.

L.oans repayable in more than five years are as follows:

2019 2018

Louns repayable after § vears: £ million £ million
Senior notes 1.057.2 t417.0
Senior secured nutes 4.490.8 44766
Senior credit facilities 40146 35633
Orher debt 750 34
9.637.6 G 4B8.5

Vendor financing

The group enters into vendor financing arrangements to finance certain property and equipment additions and
operating costs. The amounts owed pursuant to these arrarzements are interest bearing and include VAT which
was paid on the groups behalt by the vendor. Repayments of vendor financing obligations are included in the
fepayment of borrowings in the Group Cash Flow Statement. The weighted average cost of vendor financing
debt is 4.96% and is substantially due within !\ ear.

Senivr notey

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Senior notes comist of
U.S. Doilar
5.25%0 senior notes due 2022 iprincipal at maturity 32 million) 388 4.6
4.875% senior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity $72 million) 340 383
6.00° senior notes due 2024 (principal ai maturity $497 milkion) 3747 390.0
§.75%a senfor notes due 2025 principal at maturigs $ 389 million 2931 338
760.6 8117
Sterling
3.125%% senior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity €44 mitlom . 341 41
6.375% senior notes due 2004 tprincipal at maturity £ 306 milliony - REiA]]
EEN 341
Lurg
4.5% senior notes due 2025 (principal at maturiry €460 million) 1894 4132
Less: issue costs 16.8) 110.4)
lotal senior notes 1.187.3 1.558.7
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Sentor secured notes
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Senior secured Rutes consist of:
L.5. Dollar
5.25%, senior secured notes due 2021 (principal at maturity $448 millions - 402.7
5.5% senior notes due 2025 (principal at maturity $425 million) - 278.0
§.25%, senior notes due 2026 (principal at maturity $1.000 million) - 787.4
5.5% senior notes due 2026 (principal at maturity $750 million) 365.6 588.4
5.5% senior notes due 2029 (prinipal a1 maturity $825 million) 1.081.9 -
1.647.5 2.056.6
Sterling
5.5% senior secured notes due 2021 (principal at maturity £107 million) - 1257
5.5% senior secured notes due 2025 (principal at maturity £387 million) - 387.0
5.125% senior secured notes due 2025 (principal at maturity £300 million} - 300.0
6.00% senior secured notes due 2025 (principal at maturity £521 million} 540.1 5332
5.00%, senior secured notes due 2027 {principal at maturity £673 million} 675.0 675.0
4.875% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity £525 million) 5235.0 5250
6.23" senior secured notes due 2029 (principal at maturity £308 miiiion) 3620 402.4
5.25%5 senior secured notes due 2029 (principal at maturity £340 miltiom 341.2 -
4.25%, senior secured notes due 2030 (principal at maturity £400 million) 400.0 -
28433 29483
Less; issue costs (18.9) {18.2)
Total senior secured notes 44718 4,986.7

In May 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued (i) $825.0 million (£622.0 millien) principal amount of
2029 VA{ Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i) £300.0 million principal amount of 2029 VM 5.25% Sterling
Senior Secured Notes. Each series of notes was issued at par and matures on May 15, 2029. The net proceeds
from the issuance of these notes were used to redeem in full (a) £387.0 million outstanding principal amount
under the 2025 WM 5.5% Sterling Senior Secured Notes. (b) $354.5 million {£267.3 million} outstanding
principal amount under the 2025 VM Dollar Senior Secured Notes and () £300.0 million outstanding principal
amount under the 2024 VA Sterling Senior Notes, In connection with these transactions. we recognised a loss
on dett modification and extinguishment of £37.4 mitlion related to (1) the payment of £34.0 million of
redemption premiums and (2} the write-off of £3.4 million of unamortised deferred Rnancing costs and

discounts.

In July 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued an additional $600.0 million (£452.4 milkion} principal
amount of 2029 VA Dollar Senior Secured Notes at 104.75% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of
these notes were used 10 redeem in full (iy $447.9 million (£337.7 million) outstanding principal amount under
the 2021 VA Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i) £107.1 million vutstanding principai amount under the 2021
VM Sterting Senior Secured Notes. In August 2019, we issued an additional £40.0 million principal amount of
2029 VAL 5.25% Sterling Senior Secured Notes at 103% of par. Fhe net proceeds from the issuance of these
noles were used to redeem an equal outstanding principal amount of 2029 VA 6.25% Sterling Senior Secured
Notes. kn connection with these transactions. we recoenised a net loss on debt maoditication and extinguishment
of £23.3 miflion related to {(a) the payment of £25.7 million of redemption premiums ahd (by the write-off of
£2.4 million of net unamodised deferred financing costs, discounts and premiums.

in the financial year 2020. the group completed vanous financing transactions. see note 31 for turther details,
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17 Financial labilities (continued)
Senior credls facility
L he nun-current insialmenss due on the seaior credil fucifite comisiy of.

L.S. Dedlar

VM Faciliny K
LIBOR + 2.50% senior credit facility due 2026 {principal at maturity $3.400.0
million)

Euro

VM Facility O
ELRIBOR + 2.30%0 senior credin facility due 2029 (prinvipal at maturity €750.0
million}

Sterling
VA Facilin 1.
LIBOR+ 3.25%0 s¢njor credit facility due 2027 (principal at maturity £400.0 million)

Y Facility M
LIBOR - 3.25% senior credit facility due 2027 (principal at maturity £500.0 million)

Less: issug costs
Senior eredit facility due after more than one year

Vhe current invialment of the senior credit fucility consives of
VM Revolving Facility
1LIBOR~ 2.75% revolving facility

Total senior credit facility

2019 2018

£ mitlion £ million

24821 2.664.6

6334 -

0G0 400.0

199§ 1900
10146 35636
(16.2) 1238y

3.998 4 3.539.8

30984 353938

In October 2019, Virgin Media $F A Finance Limited (i) entered into VAT Facility N, a $3.300.0 miltion
1£2.488.1 millien) term loan facifity. and VM Facility O, a €750.0 million (E635.0 mifiion) term loan facility,
both issued at 99.75% of par. and (i) issued £400.0 million principal amount of 2030 W\ Sterling Senior
Secured Notes at par. The net proceeds from these transactions. together with certain other funds. were used w
ta) prepay in full the $3,400.0 million 1£2.563.5 million) outstanding principal amount on VA Favility K and
(b) redeem in full (1) $1,000.0 million (£754.0 milfion) outstanding principal amount of the 2026 V] 5.25%
Erollar Senior Secured Notes and (2} E300.0 million owstanding principal amount of the 2025 VA1 5.135%,
Sterfing Senior Secured Notes. In connection with these transactions. we recognised a net loss on debt
modification and extinguishment of £53.3 million related 1o 1 3) the payment of £36.3 miltion of redemption
premiums and 4B the write-ofl of €17.0 million of net ynamonised deterred financing costs, discounts and

premiums.

h{}
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

The VM Credit Facility requires that centain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group that generate not
less than £0% of such group™s EBITDA (as defined in the VM Credit Facility) in any financial year, puarantee
the payment of all sums payable under the VM Credit Facility and such group members are required to grant
first-ranking securiny over all or substantially all of their assets to secure the payment of ail sums payable. In
addition, the holding company of each borrower must give a share pledge over its shares in such borrower.

AL 31 December 2019, the senior secured credit facilities of the group included two multi currency revolving
credit facilities "Revolving Facility™} Revolving Facility A was a multi currency revolving facility maturing on
31 December 2021 with a maximum borrowing capacity equivalent to £50.0 million, and Revolving Facility B
was a multi currency revolving facility maturing on 15 January 2024 with a maximum borrowing capacity
equivalent 10 £950.0 million.

In addition to mandatory prepayments which must be made for certain disposal proceeds (subject to certain de
minimis thresholds), the lenders may cancel their commitments and declare the loans due and payable after 30
business days following the occurrence of a change of control in respect of Virgin Media Investment Holdings
Limited. subject to certain exceptions.

The VM Credit Facility contains certain customary events of default, the occurrence of which. subject to cenain
exceptions and materiality qualifications, would atlow the lenders to (iy cancel the total commitments. (ii)
aceelerale all outstanding loans and terminate their commitments there under and’or (iii} declare that all ot part
of the loans be payable on demand. The V\{ Credit Facility contains certain representations and warranties
customary far facilities of this type. which are subject (o exceptions. bashets and materiality qualifications.

The VM Credit Facility restricts the ability of certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group 1o, among
other things, {i) incus or guarantee certain financial indebiedness. (i) make centain disposals and acquisitions
and (iii} create certain security interests over their asscis, in each case. subject to carve-outs from such
limitations.

The VAl Credit Facility requires the borrowers lo observe certain affirmative undertakings or covenants. which
covenants are subject to materiality and other customary and agreed exceptions. in addition, the VM Credit
Facility also requites compliance with various financial covenants such as Senior Net Debt to Annualised
EBITDA and Total Net Debt to Annualised EBITDA. each capitalised term as defined in the VM Credit
Facility.

In addition to customary default provisions. the VA Credit Facility provides that any event of default with
respect to indebtedness of £50.0 million or more in the aggregate of the company, and its subsidiaries is an
event of default under the VM Credit Facility.

The VAL Credit Facility permits certain members of the Virgin Media Barrowing Group to make certain
distributions and resiricted payments to its parent company (and indirectly 1o Liberty Global) through loans,
advances or dividends subject to compliance with applivable covenants

Revtrictions
The agreements governing the senior noles and the senior credit facility significantly. and. in some cases.
absulutely restrict the proup's ability and the abilinn of must of its subsidiarivs o

= incur or guarantee additional indebtedness:

e pay dividends or make other distributions. or redeem or repurchase equity interests or subordinated
abligitions:

make investments;

sell assets. including shares in subsidiaries:

create liens;

enter into agreements that restrict the restricted subsidiaries’ abitiny 10 pay dividends. ransfer assets or
make intercompany loans:

merge or consolidate or transter substantially all of the proup’s asscts: and

*  enter into transactions with aftiliates.

*» & 9
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I8 Leases

General
We enter into leases for network equipment, real estate and vehicles.

ROU ussets
Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the detinition of mvesiment property are
presented as property. plant and equipment,

2019
£ million
Land and Build 14
Network 8.2
Other 1815
20%.2
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 20 19 financial year were £47.000.000
dmounty recognised in profit
The income staternent shows the following amounts related to lcases:
2019
£ miilion
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets;
Land and Buildings 1.5
Network 34
Other 37.1
. 420
Interest expense - 108

Short-term lease expense
I'he 10tal cash outflow for leases in 2019 was £-48.000.000,

Leuase liabilities
Matarities of our lease liabilities as of December 34, 2014 are presented below:

2019

£ million

Less than one year 46.3

One o five years 131.7

More than five years 197.6

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 3756

Impact of linance expenses (5413
Lease liability included in the statement of financial position 221.5
Current 335
Non Current 188.0
Check 2215

T'he weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease diahilitics on | January 20149 was
3 64%.

th
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19

20

Provisions
Property
related Other
costs provisions Total
£ million £ million £ million
At 31 December 2018 and | January 2019
Current 24 1 55
Non-current 119.9 4.0 123.9
1223 7.1 129.4
§stablished during the year (1.6} 338 322
L'sed during the year (3.9 1358 (39.9)
Revisions in cashflow estimales 1.3 - 1.3
Movement in discount rate 54 - 54
At 31 December 2019 123.5 3.1 128.5
Analysed as:
Cwrent 1.4 23 36
Non-current 1221 29 249
123.5 3.1 128.5

Property related costs
Property related costs expected to be incurred are mainly in relation to dilapidations cosis on leasehold
properties. The majority of the custs are expected 1o be incurred uver the aest 25 years.

(ther provisions
Other provision elements mainly consist of National Insurance contributions on share options and restricted
stock unit grants and redundancy costs resulting from restructuring programmes.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The group's principal financial liabilities. other than derivatives. comprise bank loans {senior credit facility),
senior notes, senior secured notes, finance leases, vendor financing, trade payables. hire purchase contracts and
loans made to parent and fellow group undertakings. With the exception of trade payables the main purpose of
the financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Virgin Media group's operations. The group has various
financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short term deposits. which arise directly from its
operations.

The group is exposed to various market risks. including credit risk. foreign exchange rate risk. liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. As
some of the group's indebtedness accrues interest at variable rates there is exposure to vodatility in future cash
flows and eamnings associated with variable interest payments.

Imterest and principal obligations on some indebtedness are in LS. dollars and euros. 45 a result the group has
exposure 1o volatiliey in future cash flows and eamings associated with changes in foreign exchange rates on
payments of interest and principal amounts on a portion of its indebtedness.

The group has entered into various derivative instruments 1o manage interest rate rish, and foreign exchange
risk with respect to the U3, dollar. comprising of interest rate swaps. cross-currency inferest rate swaps and
foreign currency forward contracts. The objective is 1o reduce the volatilinn of the proup’s cash fows and
earnings caused by changes in underlying rates.

I he main risks arising from the group's tinancial liabilities are described below:

Interes rate risk

The group is subject to inferest rate tish because it has substantial indebtedness at variable rates ot interest. At
31 December 2019, before tahing into account hedging instruments. interest is determined on a variable basis
on £4.0145.6 million (2018 - £3.563.5 million} or 32% {2018 - 29%a1 of indebtedness. relating sulely 10 amounts
drawn down on the senior credit facitities. The group aims to reduce the volatility of its cash flows and eamings
as a result of fluctuations in interest rates through the use of derivative financial instroments.

Lh
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

trerest rute risk profile of fimanciaf assets
I'he group's financial assets include cash on money market deposit at call. seven day and monthly rates. and
amounts owed by parent undertakings and related parties charged at variable interest rates.

Sensttiviny andfvsis of chuanges i imerest rares

Interest rate risks are presented by way of a sensitivity amalysis in accordance with IFRS 7 ‘Finencial
Instruments. Disclesures'. These show the effects of changes in market interest rates on interest pay ments.
interest income and expense. other components and. as appropriate, equity. The interest rate sensitivity analyses
are based on the following assumptions:

*  Changes in market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fixed interest rates only
affect income if measured at Fair value. As such, all financial instruments with fixed interest rates that
are carried at amontised cost are not subject 1o inlerest rate risk 25 defined by IFRS 7.

e  (hanges in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-derivative variable-
interest financial instruments. the interest pay ments of which are not designated as hedged items ol
cash flow hedges against interest rate rishs. As a consequence. they are included in the calculation of
interest rate sensitivities.

*  Changes in the marhet interest rote of interest rate derivatives tinterest rate swaps and croas-currency
interesy rate swaps) thal are not part of a hedging relationship as set out in IFRS O “Financidd
Instruments” affect gpins or losses on derivatives and are therefore taken into consideration in the
calculation of interest rate sensitivities,

*  Foreign currency forward rate contracts are net subject to ingerest rate rishs and therefore do not affect
interest rate sensitivities.

Based on debt at 31 December 2019, including amounts owed to and due from parent and group undertakings.
and tahing into consideration hedging instruments. a 0.23% movement in market interest rates would result in
an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest income/expense of £8.6 milliun (2018 - a 0.25% movement
in market interest rates would result in an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest mcome’expense of
£8.3 million). Movements in gross interest expense would be recognised in finance income and finance costs in
the Group Income Statement,

Foreign currency exchunge rate rish

The group is also subject lo foreign currency exchange risks because interest and principal obligations with
respect to a portion of its indebtedness is denvminated in LS. doltars and euros, To the extent that the pound
deciines in value against the LS. dollar and the curo. the effective cost of servicing LS. dollar and euro
denominated debt will be higher. Changes in the exchange rate result in foreign currency gains or losses.

As of 31 December 2019 the group had £4.890.3 million (2018 - £3.532.9 milliont. or 41% (2017 453%) of
externul indebledness, denominated in U .8 dollars and £1,022.9 million (2018 - £413.3 million). or 9902018
1"a1 of external indebtedness. denominated in euros {sex note 173 The group has a programme in place 10
mitigate the rish of losses arising from adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates which uses a number
of derivative financial instruments. When wking inlo consideration cross currency interest rate swaps and
forgien currency forward rate contracts. the majority of extemal debt is hedped against foreign currency
exchange rate rish.

Fue the s ear ended 3 December 2014 the group had feraign currency gains at £200 7 million (2018 Josses of
£326.1 million.

The gains for the year ended 31 December 2019 were primarity due to the strengthening of pound sterfing
relative 1o the 1.5, dollar in respect of the LS. dollar denominated debt issued by the group. partially offsct by
the .8, dollar denominated debt advanced 1o group undertakings. The fosses for the year ended 31 December
2018 were primarils due 1o the weakening of pound sterling relative to the ULS. doliar in respect of the LS.
dotlar denominated debt issued by the group. partially offsen by the U.S. dollar denominated debt advanced to
vroup undortahings.
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies {continued)

Sensitivity anclysis of changes in forcign currency exchamge rates

For the presentation of market risks. IFRS 7. ‘Financial Instruments. Disclonures’ requires sensitivity analy sis
that shows the effects of hypothetical changes of foreign cumency exchange rates of relevant nisk variables on
profit or loss and shareholders' equity. The periodic effects are determined by relating the hy pothetical changes
inrisk variables (o the balance of financial instruments at the reporting date. It is assumed that the balance at the
reporting date js representative of the year as a whole.

Currency nisks are defined by IFRS 7 as arising on account of financial instruments being denominated in a
currency other than the functional curmrency and being of a monetary nature. Relevant risk variables are
generally all non-functional currencies in which the group has financial liabilities. excluding amounts due to
parent undertakings.

The currency sensitivity analysis is based on the following assumptions:

Alajor non-derivative monetary financial instruments { liquid assets, receivables and finance leasc liabilities) are
directly denominated in the functional currency. There are therefore no foreign exchange fluctuations in respect
of these instruments which have an effect on profit or loss or shareholders’ equity. Interest income and expense
from financial instruments are also either recorded in the functional currency or rransferred to the functional
currency using derivatives.

The group has a number of derivative instruments with various counterparties to manage its exposure to
vhanges in foreign currency exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations. on which the financial instruments are
based. affect yains or losses on derivatives in the finance income or finance costs lines. respectively, of the
Group Income Statement.

The following table demonstrates the semsitivity to a reasonably possible change in the pound stetling against
L.S. dollar and euro exchange rates with all other variables remaining constant. of the group's profit before tax.
Due to foreign exchange transkation of monetary assets and labilities, the impact of translating the net assets of
foreign operations into sterling is excluded from the sensitivity analysis:

Incresse/ Effect on

decreast w profit/(loss}
exchange before tay
rates £ million
19
Stertiniz 1.5, doltar =268, B3
Sterhingt' S doliar 20 [ERe]
Sterling eura 2% b
Sterling euro e, HIER]
s
Stehing V'S dollyr et uIis
Sterling 1S dollar R [t
Sterling guro hp o e
Sterling curn e, AL

Fagrachiny risk and capital managenent

1 he company is a wholly vwned subsidiary and its ultimate parent company is Liberty Global ple. Capital
management policies are operated at a Virgin Media group level by the management of Liberty Global ple. The
agreements that govern the irgin Vedia group's indebtedness set owt financial maintenance tests and restrictive
covenanis, and it is the policy of the Virgin Media group to maintain adequate headroom against these tests and
covenants.

=l
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

The Virgin Media group's business is capital intensive and the Virgin Media group is highly leveraged. The
Virgin Media group has significant cash requirements for operating costs. capilal expenditure and interest
expense. The level of the Virgin Media group's capital and operating expendilures are atfected by significant
amoumts of capital required to connegt customers to the nerwork. expand and upgrade the network and offer
new. services. Cash on hand, together with cash from operations and an uadrawn credit facility, are expected to
be sufficient for the Virgin Media group's cash requirements through te 12 months fram the date of this report.
The Viegin Media group has significant scheduled repayments that may need 10 be financed through means
other than reliance on cash flow from operations. such as raising additional debt or equity. refinancing the
existing facility. possible loans from parent undertakings or related parties. sale of assets or other means. |t may
not be possible to obtlain adequate financing. or sell assets at all, or on favourable terms. or the terms of the
senior credit facility or senior notes may prevent the Virgin Media proup from incurring additional indebtedness
or selling assets.

As of 31 December 2019 the group had £11.929.6 million of external debt tincluding finance feases. vendor
financing and net of deferted finance costs) outstanding, compared to €12.371.0 million as of 31 Decomber
2018 and cash and cash equivalents of £33.9 million compared 10 £16 2 million at 31 December 2018.

I'he principal amount outstanding under the senior credit facslity at 31 December 2019 was £4.014.6 million
(2618 - £3.563.7 million}. The senior credit facility comprises two term facilities denominated in pounds
sterling ol £400.0 million and £499.0 million respectively (2008 £400.0 million and £499 0 million). one term
facility denominated in 1.5, dollar of £2.182.0 million (2018 - £2.664.6 million). vne term facility denominated
in euro of £633.4 (2018 - £nil) and one revolving facility of £1.000.0 million (2018 tao revolving facilities of
£625.0 miltion and £50.0 million). At 3| December 2019, £4,014.6 million (2018 -~ £3.539.8 million) of the
term Facilities net of issue costs had been drawn. The group had £675.0 million available of its revolving credit
facilities for bank guarantees and standby letters ol credat,

The group does not have any scheduled principal payments on its senior notes and senior credit facility until
2022, However, if the group was unable to mect repavinent conditions or service these obligations through cash
flows from operations. then it would need to secure additionai funding such as raising additional debt or equity,
refinancing the existing facility. selling assels or using other means. [t may not e possible to obtain financing
or sell assets. at all or on favourable wrms, or the group may be contractyally prevented by the terms of its
senior notes or senigr credit @cility from incurring additional indebtedness or selling assets.

A maturity analysis of financial liabilities, outstanding at 31 December, showing the remaining contractual
wndiscounted amounts payable, incheding interest commitments. is shown below:

Less Greater than
than 1 year 110 5 yeurs 5 years Total
2019 £ million £ million £ million £ million
Senior credit facilin. senior aotes and senior
secured noles 3453 3603 99507 136653
A\ endor financing 1.8717 811 - 19528
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 8.0 282 1346 171.4
Lrernvative contracts 658 198.6 272.0 5364
2018
Sentor credit faviling, senior notes and senior
secured notes PR 356002 11187 .8 [EREY I
\ endor tinancing 1.0427 K7 2.7 194941
Finance lease and hire purchase vonmracts 26 285 1388 173.6
Derivative contragts 109 798 2839 iT4 6

The above amounts exclude other financial liabilities, such as trade payabics. which are all repayable in less
than one sear. Amounts owed to parent and group undertakings have also been excluded as they are repavable
on demand.
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Credil risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party 10 a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other pany by
failing to discharge an obligation. The group's financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit
rish consist primarily of cash, irade receivables and derivative contracts.

At 31 December 2019, the group had £33.9 million (2018 - £16.2 million) in cash and cash equivalents. These
vash and cash equivalents are on deposit with a number of mejor financial institutions and. as pant of the Virgin
Media group's cash management process. regular evaluations of the credit standing of these institutions are
performed using a range of metrics. The group has not experienced any losses in cash balances and
management do not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on its cash balances.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to irade receivables are limited because of the large number of
customers and their distribution across a wide geographic area. The Virgin Media group performs credit
evaluations of its business customers® financial condition and generally does not require collateral. No single
group or customer represents greater than 10% of total accounts receivable.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to derivative contracts are focused within a limited number of
international financial institutions with which the Virgin Media group transacts and relate only to derivatives
with recorded asset balances. The Liberty Global group performs regular reviews of the financial institutions
with which it transacts as to their credit worthiness and financial condition. The group includes a credit risk
adjustment based upon the credit default swap spread in the valuation of derivative instruments. however. the
group does not expect there to be any significant non-performance risks associated with its counterparties.

Financial Instroments
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - financial risk management

The company and group have obligations in a combination of US dollars, euros. and pounds sterling at fixed
and variable interest rates. As a result the group is exposed to variability in its cash flows and camnings resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and inierest rates.

The group’s objective in managing its exposure (o interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates is to
decrease the volatility of its carnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The group has
established policies and procedures to govern these exposures and has entered into derivative financial
instruments including interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate
contracts. Subsidiaries of Virgin Media Finance PL.C hold tinancial instruments which hedge the foreign
currency risk of debt issued by its fellow group undertakings. It is the group's policy not 1o enter into derivalive
financial instruments for speculative trading purposes. nor to enter into derivative financial instruments with a
level of complexity or with a risk that is greater than the exposure to be managed. [he amounts below include
amounts telating to shott term as well as long term payables.

With the exception of a limited number of foreign currency forward contracts. the sroup has elected not 1o
designate derivative instruments as accounting hedges. although these remain economic hedges.
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Financial Instruments (continued}

U'he fair values ot derivative financial instruments recognised in the Group Balance Sheet are as follows:

Included wethin current asseix

Fair value hedyes
Enterest rate swaps

Cross-currency interest rale swaps
Dervatives not designated as hedues

Interest rate swaps

Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Foreign Currency Forward Contract

Inctuded within pon-current avsety

Fair value heduey
Interest rate swaps

Cross-cuftency interest rale swaps
Dernatives not designaied as Aedides

Interest rate swaps

Cross-currency interest rale swaps

Inchinded within current Habilies:
Dermvatives not designated as Aedges

Interest rate swaps

Cross=curmency infesest 1ake sWwaps
Foreign Currency Forward Contract

Included within non-current fiubilitios
Dorivatives not desistiated us hedues

Interesi rate swaps

Cross-currenyy interest ral swaps

019 2018
£ million £ million
17.7 17.1
5.8 10.0
276 219
Hs 924
—— " l‘6
824 143.0
8.9 22
316 157
735 377
KRUTR ] 603 8
4309 7419
126.1 47.2
10 347
0.5 -
133.6 319
2410 423
161.8 504
402.3 292.7

Cross-currency interest rale swaps - hedging the principsl and interest payments of senior notes and

senior credit facility

The termis of the group’s outstanding cross-currency interest rate swaps. which are used to mitigate the interest
and foreign exchange rate rishs relating 10 the pound sterling value of principal and interest payments on (1.8,
dotlar and eura denominated senior notes and senior secured notes at 31 December, 20190, were as fotlews:

Final maturiey
date of hedges

January 2023
Aprid 2019 © January 2028
January 2021
January 2025

Hedge type

Nat designated
ot designated
Fair value

ot designated

Notional
amount

duc from
copfilerparty
million
SH63
5105837
$2720
£2.296.2

“otional

amount Weighted
due to average
counterparty remaining
million life
€271 3.6
£7.8350 58
£168.6 1.0
$3.300.0 s
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Interest rate swaps - hedging of interest rate sensitive obligutions

As of 31 December 2019, the group had outstanding interest rate swap agreements w0 manage the exposure 1o
variability in future cash flows on the interest payments associated with its senior credit facility which accrues
at variable rates based on LIBOR. The group has also entered into inlerest rate swap agreements (0 manage its
exposure o changes in the fair value of certain debt obligations due to interest rate fluctuations. The interest
rate swaps ailow the group 1o receive or pay imerest based on six moath LIBOR or fixed rates in exchange for

payments or receipts of interest al six month LIBOR or fixed rates.

The wems of the grouwp’s outstanding inlerest rale swap contracts at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Final maturity

date of hedge Hedge type Pay fixed rate Receive fixed rate
Weighted Weighted
Notional average Notional average
million remaining life nitlion remaining life
January 2020 - January 2025  Not designated €lL114.5 2.1 €784.7 4.2
January 023 Not designated - - $354.5 5.0
January 2020 - \tay 2027 Not desianated £15.352.0 27 £7.202.1 4.7
January 2021 Fair value - - £628.4 1.0

The notional amounts of multiple derivative instruments that mature within the same calendar month are shown
in aggrepate.

Interest rate swaptions

The group has entered into various interest rate swap options (swaptionsh. which give the right, but no
obligation, (o enter into certain interest rate swap contracts at set dates in the future, with cach such contracs
having a life of no more than three years. At the transaction date, the strike rate of cach of these contacts was
above the corresponding market rate.

The terms of outstanding interest tate swap option contracts at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Notional Weighted

amouni Underlying  average option

due from swap enpiration

Final maturity date Hedge type  counterparty currency period

million
Octoher 2022 < January 2026 Not designated £3.342.2 £ 1.0
January 2023 - January 2025 Not designated £364.0 3 0.6
Basis Swaps

The terms of outstanding hasis swap contracts at 31 December 2019 were as toliows:

Notional Notional Weighted

amount amount average

due from due to remaining

Final matwurity date Hedge type counterparty  counterparty life

million million
July 2020 ot destgnated £600.0 L9008 .5
July 2020 ot designated $3.300.0 $3.300.0 n.s
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Financial Instruments (continued)
Foreign currency forward options and forward contracts

The group has enlered into external foreign currency forward options and foreign currency forward contracts in
order 1o manage foreign currency exposure risk with respect to Indian rupee (INR).

Foreign carrency forward options

IThe following foreign currency forward options with a third party were in place at 31 December 2019:

Exchange currency . Notionsl amount
miilion
Indian rupee £3.5

Foreign currency forward contraces
I'he following fureign currency forward contructs with a related party were in place at 31 Decernber 2019:

Maturity dates Currency purchase forward Curreacy sold forward
milllion milllion
January 2020 - june 2020 100 £7.9

Cash flow hedges

The group has elected not lo designate derivative instruments as accounting hedges, although these remain
econamic hedges. The group has recognised effective portion of gains on losses in the unrealised gains and
losses in the Group Statemnent of Comprehensive Ircome as result of historic derivative instruments that were
designated as cash flow hedges and hedges of commercial operational contracts.

Changes in the fair values of derivative instruments afe recorded as pains o losses or derivative instruments in
the Group Income Statement in the period in which they occur. The following table presents movements in
Other Comprehensive Income related fo cash Mow hedges for the year ended 31 December 2019;

Cross
currency
interest rate
Tatal swaps Tax effect
£ million £ million £ million
Balanee at 31 December 2048 53 t15.61 209
Amounts recogrised in Statement of
Comprehensive ncome reclassified 1o carnings 54 34 -
Balance at 31 December 2019 1.7 {10.2) 20.9

{nviuded within amounts reclassified to earnings is £5.4 million of not Josses that have been recycled from the
cash flow hedpe reserve through the income statement in respect of swaps for which cither designation was
revohed, or the hedged instrument was sentted as part of refinancing activities

Fair value hedges
for.derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value accounting hedges, the gain or loss on

derivatives is recopnised in the Group Income Statement in the period in which they occur. together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged debt obligations due to changes in the hedged risks,
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21 Financial Instruments (continued)
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying values and fair values of the group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities. where different. as at 31 December:

2019 2019 2018 2018
Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value
£ million £ million £ million £ million

Senior credit facility (3.998.-) (+.126.8} 13.539.8) $3.6094)
5.25% LIS, dollar senior notes due 2022 (38.9) (30.7) (49.7) (49.6}
4.875%, LS. dollar senior notes due 2022 (54.1) t55.00 (58.5) 157.6)
5.125% pound sterling senior notes duc 2022 (+4.2) tH.0) 144.3) (44,1}
6.375% pound sterling senior notes due 2024 - - (298.4) (302.3)
6% U.S. dollar senior notes due 2024 (372.6) {387.3) (387.3) (377.n
4.5%, euro senior notes due 3025 (386.7) {400.7) 14099 (109.7)
5.75% L1.S, dollor senior notes due 2025 261.4) (302.5) [EX DBV £296.2)
5.50% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2021 - - 1106.9) (113.7)
5 28%; 11 S dollar senior secured notes due 202 - . 135460 {31480
5.5% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2025 - - {385.8) 1386.0)
5.5% U.S. dollar senior notes due 2025 - - (277.3) (2742
5.125%, pound sterling senior secured notes due 2025 - - (298.0) 129849
6.0 pound sterling senior secured notes due 2025 (539.9) {5375.60) (33271 (379.4)
5.25% U .S. dollar senior secured notes due 2026 - - (786.0) (723.0)
5.5% U.S. dollar senior secured notes due 2026 (561.7) 1595.9) (583.9) (549.0)
+4.875% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2027 (523.6) {549.9) {523.4) (494.8)
5.0% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2027 (672.1) {71761 671.6) (639.5)
6.25% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2029 {360.7) (3853 (400.8) (402.9)
5.50% U.S dollar senior secured notes due 2029 {1.077.3) (1.142.4) - -

3.25%9 pound sterling senior secured notes due 2029 1340.H 1368.9) - -

4.25%% pound sterling senior securect notes due 2030 13196.4) (408.5) - -

The carrving values of amounts not listed above approximate their fair values.

The group uses the folfowing hicrarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial imtruments by
valuation lechnique:

Level 1 U nadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liahilities.

Level 2 U nadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities; or
Unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active: or
Iaputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assct or liabalits

Level 3 U'nobsenable inputs for the asset of habilin,

The group endeavours 1o utilise the best available information in measuring fair value. Finanvial assets and

liahilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
NS urement.
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Financial Instruments (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of the linancial instruments held by the group is as follows:

Lavel | Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ miltion £ million £ million £ million
Financial assets ut fair vaiue

Cash. short tem deposits and restricted cash 550 - . 359
Cross-currency inferest rile swaps - 3856 - 3856
Interest rate swaps - 127.7 - 1227
55.9 3t3.3 - 509.2

Financial lichitides at fair value
Senior credit facility 11268 - - L1268
Senior notes 1.220.2 - - 1.229.2
Senior secured notes 28243 - - 28243
Cross-currency inerest rife swaps - 1688 - 168.8
Interest rate swaps - 348.4 18.7 367.1
Foreign currency forward rate contracts - 0.3 . 0.5
8. 1803 3177 i3.7 3.716.7

In estimating the fair value of other financial instruments. the group used the following methods and
assumptions:

Cunh and shors term deposits, amd resivivied cash: The carrying amounts reported in the Group Balance Sheet
approximate fair value due to the short maturity and nature of these financial instruments.

Dyerivatve findanciut invrumenns. As a resuit of the group's Tinancing activities. it is exposed 10 market risks
from changes in interest and foreign currency exchange rates. which may adversely affect its operating results
and financial position. When deemed appropriate. the group minimises risks from interest and foreign currency
exchange rate fuctuations through the use of derivative financial instruments. [he foreign currency forward
rate contracts. interest rate swaps (¢xcluding swaptions) and cross-curmency interest rate swaps are valued using
broker guotations, or market transactions in either the listed or over-the coumter markets. adjusted for pon-
performance risk. As such. these derivative instruments are classified within leve! 2 of the fair vaiue hierarchy.
Due 1o the tack of 1evel 2 inputs Yor the swaption valuations. the group believe these valuations tall under
Level 3 of the tair value hierarchy.

Settior aotes senior secured sotes amd credic facifine The fair values of the senior credit facility. senior notes
amd semior secured notes in the above table are based on tie quoted market prices in avtive markets tor the
underlying third party debt and incorporate non-performance rish. Accordinghy . the inputs used 1o value the
sentior notes and senior seeured notes are classitied within fevel | of the fair value hierarchy .

During the vear. there weee o transtiers bewween Level [ Level 2 and Level 3.

Fquity share capital

bR 018
£ 000 £000
Hhotred, called ap and fadly paid
T84 2018 - 76,1 84) ordinany shares of' €1 each 76 76
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23 Share-based payments

The group’s employees are entitled to partake in Liberty Global ple share-based schemes. I'hese share schemes
consist of stoch options and performance plans including stock appreciation rights {“SARs™. performance-
based share appreciation rights (“PSARSs™). restricted stock, restricted stock units {"RSUs™) and performance
share units ("PSUs™i. The schemes provide share based compensation to individuals under the conditions
describe below. The grant date fair values for options. share appreciation rights [SARs) and performance-based
share appreciation rights (PSARs) are estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. and the grant
date fair values for restricted share units {RSUs) and performance-based restricted share units (PSUs) are based
upon the closing share price of Liberty Globat ordinary shares on the date of grant. We cafculate the expected
life of options and SARs granted by Libeny Global to employees based on historical exercise trends. The
arrangements are equity settled with the employ ees. Liberty Global recharges the group for share schemes made
available to the group employees.

Full detailed information on the group's share based payvments are disclosed in the financial statements of
Virgin Media Inc. which are available on Liberty Global's website a1t www.libertyglobal.com.

The income statement charge for share based payments for the year was £45.1 million 12018: £27.2 million).
Liberty Global Sh?re Incentive Plans

A5 of December 31,2019, we are awhorised to grant incentive awards under the L ibertx Giobal 2014 {ncentive
Ptan and the Liberty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director incentive Plan. Generally. we may grant non-qualified
share options, SARs. PSARs, restricted shares. RSUs, cash awards, performance awards oe any combination of
the foregoing under either of these incentive plans {collectively. awards). Ordinary shares issuable pursuant to
awards made under these incentive plans will be made available from either authorized but unissued shares or
shares that have been issued but reacquired by our company. Awards may be granied at or above fair value in
any class of ordinary shares. The maximum number of Liberty Global shares with respect to which awards may
be issued under the Liberty Global 2¢14 Incentive Plan and the Liberty Globat 2014 Nonemployee Director
Incentive Plan is 155 million {of which no more than 50.25 million shares may consist of Class B ordinary
shares) and10.5 million. respectively. in each case, subject to anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions in
the respective plan. As of December 31. 2019, the Liberty Global 2014 incentive Plan and the Liberty Global
2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan had 71,262,640 and 8.652.029 ordinary shares available for grant.
respectively.

Awards (other than performance-based awards) under the {.iberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan generally (i) vest
12.5% on the six month anniversary of the grant date and then vest at a rate of 6.25% cach quarter thercafter
and ¢iiy expire seven years after the grant date. Awards (other than RSUs) issued under the Liberts Global 2014
Nonemployvee Director Incentive Plan peneraily vest in three equal annual instalments. provided the director
continues to serve as dircctor immediately prior to the vesting date. and expire seven years after the grant date.
R&L's vest on the date of the first annual general meeting of sharcholders following the grant date. Thes
awards may be granted at or above fair value in any class of ordinary shares.

Liberty Global Performance Awards

The following is a summany of the material terms and conditions with respect to Liberty Global’s pertormance-
based awards for certain executive otficers and key employees for which awards were granted under the |iberty
(ilobal Incentive Plan and the Virgin Media Incentive Plan.

Lihern €ilobad PST ¢

in Atarch 2015, iberty Global's compensation committee approved the prant of PSUs to executive officers and
key employees (the 2015 PSUs). The pertormance plan for the 2015 PSE s covered a tworvear period ending 31
December 2016 and included a performance target based on the achievement of a specitivd compound annual
growth rate (CAGR7 in a consolidated operating cash flow metric (as defined in the applicable underlying
agreement). The performance larget was adjusted for events such as acquisitions. dispusitions and changes in
foreign currency eschange rates that affect comparahility (OCF CAGR). and the participant’s annual
performance ratings during the 1wo-year performance period. Panticipanis eamed 99.5% of their targeted
awards under the 2015 PSU's, which vested 50%0 on each of 1 April 2017 and 1 October 2141 7.
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in February 2016, Liberty Global's compensation commtittee approved the granf of PSU's o executive ofticers
and key employees (the 2016 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the achievement of 2
specified OCF CAGR during the three-year period ending December 31, 2018, The 2016 PSUs reguire delivers
of a compound annual growth rate of aur consolidated OCF CAGR of 6.0% during the theee-year performaance
period. with over- and under-performance payout opportunities should the OCF CAGR exceed or fail 10 meet
the aarget, as applicable. The performance payout may be adjusted at the compensation committee™s discretion
for events that may affect comparability. such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates and accounting
principles or policies. The 2016 PSLs will vest 56% on each of | Aprit 2019 and } October 2019, During 2018,
the compensation commiuee of Liberty Global's board of directors approved the grant of PSUs to executive
offfcers and key empioyees (the 2018 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plian that is based on the achievement of
a specified Adjusted OIBDA CAGR during the two.vear period ending 3V December 2019, The 2018 PSUs
include over- and under performance pavout opportunities should the Adjusted OIBDA CAGR exceed or fail o
meet the larget, as applicable. A performance range of 50% to 125% of the target Adjusted OIBDA CAGR will
generally result in award recipients eaming 30% to 150" of their target 2018 PSUs. subject to reduction vr
torfeiture based on individual performance. The carned 2618 PSUS will vest 50%s on | Apeil 2020 and 50°s on
} October 2020, The tanget Adjusted OIBDA CAGR for the 2018 PSUs was determined on 26 October 2018
and. accordingly. associated compensation expense has been recognised prospectively from that date.

Libern Gilobad Chullenge Performance wiards

Effective 24 June 2013, Liberty Global’s compensation committee approved the Challenge Performance
Awards, which consisted solely of PSARS Jor Liberty Global's senior executive officers and a vombination of
PSARs and PSUs for other executive officers und key employees. Each PSLU represented the right to receive
ong Liberty Global or LiL. AC Class A or Class C ordinary share, as applicable. The performance criteréa for the
Challenge Performance Awards was based on the participant’s performance and achievement of individual
goals in each of the years 2013, 2014 and 2015, As a result of satisfying performance conditions, 100%0 of the
then outstanding Challenge Performance Awards vested and became fully excrcisable on 24 June 2016, The
PSARs have a term of seven years and base prices equal to the respective market closing prices of the
applicable class on the grant date.

Fargin Media Stock Incentive Plany

Equity awards were pranted to certain of the group’s employecs. prior to Liberty Global's aequisition of Virgin
Media in June 2013, under certain incentive plans maintained and admini d by the group and no new grants
will be made under these incentive plans. The equity awards granted include stock options, restricted shares,
RSU's and performance awards. Awards under the VA Incentive Plan have a 10-yeuar term and become fully
exercisable within five years of continued employment,

Reserves

Lquty share capial
The batanee classitied as share capital represents the nominad value on issue ol the company's 2quity share
capitl. comprising £1 ordinary shares.

Shire promiom aocount
Share premium represents the amount of consideration received for the company s vquity share capital in evcess
ol’the nominal value uf shares issued.

{reantry Afure peNerve
| he reasury share reserse was creaed in 2014 and subsequently cancelled in 20018 as a resuft of group wide
restruciures ivolving the company aned fellow Virgin Media group companies

Crher capitgd reserves compriving sterster resarve sid capits{ contribasinon
The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired through group reorganisations have given rise to the
requirement to mahe adjustments on consolidation in the merger reserve.

{ prealived gainy und looes
This reserve records the portion of gain or loss on hedging instruments that are determined to be eflective
hedyes, and the exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operations.
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Reserves (continued)

F-ereign currency franslarion reserve
This reserve records the gain or foss on the retranslation of subsidiary undeniakings with functional currencies
other than pound sterling.

Retuined earnings
This reserve records all current and prior period retained profit and losses.

Capita) commitments
2019 018
£ million £ million

Ameurts contracted for but not provided in the accounts 337 3143

Contingencies

On 19 hMarch 2014. the UK government announced a change in legislation with respect to the charging of VAT
in connection with prompl payment discounts such as those that the group offer to fixed-line telephony
customers. This change. which took effect on 1 VMay 2014, impacted the group and some of its competitors. The
UK tax authority issued a decision in the fourth quarter of 2015 challenging the group’s application of the
prompt payment discount rules prior to the | hay 2014 change in legislation. Fhe group appealed this decision.
As pan of the appeal process. the group were required to make aggregale payments of £67.0 million.
comprising of the challenged amount of £63.7 miilion (which the group paid during the fourth quarter of 2015)
and related interest of £3.3 million (which the group paid during the first quarier of 2016). No provision was
recorded by the group at that time as the likelihood of loss was not considered to be probable. The aggregate
amount paid does not include penalties, which could be significant in the event that penalties were to be
assessed. [n September 2018, the coun rejected the group's appeal and ruled in favour of the UK tax authonty.
Accordingly. during the third quarter of 2018, the group recorded a provision for litigation of £63.7 million and
related interest expense of £3.3 million in the group’s income statement. The First Tier Tribunal gave
permission to appeal to the Upper Tribunal and the group submitted grounds for appeal on 22 February 2019.

In April 2020, the Lpper Tribunal rejected our appeal. ruling in favour of HMRC, The Group is currently
seeking permission to appeat to the Court of Appeal: however, no assurance can be given as to the ultimate
outcome of this matter. ’

Pension and other post-retirement benefits

The group operates two detined benefit schemes in the UK. the NTL Pension Plan and the 1999 ntl Pension
Scheme, and one defined benefit scheme in Ireland, Virgin Aledia [reland ELimited Defined Beneht Plan. which
pros ide both penstons in eetirement and death benefits to members. Pension benefits are related to the members”
final salan. at retirement and their length of service.

Defined contribution piuns

The group contributes (o the \irgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans of eligible employecs.
Contributions are charged to the Group Income Statement as they become payable. in accordance sith the rules
of the plans.

Contnbutions to the defined contribution plans during the period were £27.6 million (2018 - £24.3 mithons
The ameunt of outstanding contributions at 31 December 2019 inciuded within current habilities was £4.1
nullion (2018 « £3 6 million).
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Defined heneflt pluns
The group recognises any actuarial pains and losses in each period in the Group Statement of Comprehensive
inpome,

* 1999 ntl Pension Scheme

A subsidiary, Virgin Media Limited. operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits (1999 ntt
Pension Plan™). The plan has never been opened to new enirants escept when the plan began and subseqguently
on 31 Aay 2007, on both cccasions new members were transferred from other existing plans. The Plan was
closed to future accrual on 31 January 2014, The assets of the plan are held separately from those of the
company. being invested in units of exempt unit trusts. The plan is funded by the payment of contributions 1o
separately administered trust tunds. The peasion costs are determined with the advice of independent qualified
actuaries on the basis of triennial vai uations using the projected unit credit method.

* NTL Pension Plan

A subsidiun . Virgin Medis Limiwed. operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits (NTL Pension
Plan”}. The pension plan was closed to new entrants as of 6 April 1998. The Plan was closed to future accrual
on 31 January 2014 The assets of the plan are held separately from those of the company . in an independenty
administered trust. The plan i funded by the payment of contributions 10 this separstely administered 1rust.
The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent qualified actuaries on the basis of triennial
valuations using the projected unit credit method.

+ Virgin Media lreland Limited Defised Benefit Plan

A subsidiary, Virgin Media Ireland Limited. operates o funded pension plan providing defined benefits [ Virgin
Aledia Irgland Limited Defined Benefit Plan™ previously called the “UPC Communivations Iretand Limited
Defined Benelit Plan™). The Plan was closed to future accrual on 31 July 2013, The assets of the plan are held
separately from those of the company. in an independently adwministered trust. The plan is funded by the
pas ment of contributions to this separately administered trust. The pension vosts are determined with the advice
of inde¢pendent gualified actuaries on the basis of friennial valuations using the projected unit credit method,

The plans” assets are measured at fair value. The plans” liabilities are measured using the projected unit method
and discounted at the current rate of retum on 4 high quality corporate bond.

Ihe table below provides summary information on the group’s defined bepetit plans:

2019 2018
7 £ million £ miltion
Projected benefit obligation - 61700 1563.h
Tair value of plan assets ' 695.5 645.0
Net assel 73.5 81.9
Net pertodic peision cost 0.9 2.2
Net defined henefit asset represented by
Net defined benetit labitity P2 17.8)
Net defined bene fit assel 864 807
78.5 Bl.Y
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27 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)
Movements in the defined benefit assets and Habilities are as follows:
Iefined henefit obligation

Fair value of plan sswis “ei defined benefit | Habibits Passet

1% p-111.) Y p-U 1} Y priL)
£ millisn £ milbion { mithva £ million £ mithon £ miltion

th lIreland t(h Ircland IK  Irefand 'K frcland (K drvland UK Ircland
Halance ai | January A ITE LN PRSIt E 1Y [RE eiu7 283 A4 254 w7 1TAar Tue (BT
Included im imcome stutcment
Lurrent Sdmin servace wosl - - ey - el - LY o
Past service wont - 2T - - - - - 2 -
IMMurest ELost) Incime (AL VRI T k] wh 170 us 157 s 24 [N (K [
Incheded in (K |
Atuarial o gan ariong drem
<hanges in demographie el 11 e a 33
ARSUSTPLRMN
Chonpges i linancial assumpticns (%030 (491 3nd e - - - (LIRS 44y dnd gk
b rpunence adjestments u7 nz 145 10 - - - a? 02 113 Lo
Raturn on plan assets e xcluding . . S38 2K SR 1§ S X sK 0
CTesL InCOmR
(hher
Contributions pand by the A e 7 177 7 e 17 127 I
vmplover
1.ects of movements i exchange 19 . w5 ae i a4 B 03 . W
TS
Benelity pad 240 e n 12 2241 e 20 i)y (I
Baulsmce at 31 December (5810} (360G (S30.0) {33 6b7.4 281 697 153 6.4 79 #.7 74

1999 ntl Pension Scheme and NTL Pension Plan have been disclosed within the "URK™ figures.
Virgin Media Ireland Limited Defined Benefit Plan is shown within the “Ir¢land™ fipures.

The group’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations by asset category at 3| December 2019 and 31
December 2018 were as follows:

2019 Ireland
UK leng long term
term rate rate of
of return UK total return  Ereland total
£ million £ million
Equitics 5.3% 81.7 2.2% 10.8
Property 5.3% 23 - -
Corporate bonds 2.0% F96.7 2 13.2
Govermnment bonds 1.3% 69.0 - -
Hedgpe lunds 1.8% 89.2 - -
Insurance policy (huy-in} 2.0% 182.5 - -
Cash and other 1.3% 46.0 2.2% 4.1
Total market value of assess 6674 TR
Present value of plan liabilities t581.0 (R
Net peasion asset (liability) 36.4 i7.9
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27 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

2068 Ireland
L K long tong 1erm
term rate rate of
of return UK total return  tretund total
£ million £ million
Equities 5.8% 734 1.2% 08
Property 3i.8% 3o - -
Corporate bonds 2.8% i34 2.2% 1.3
_Government bonds 1.8% 66.0 - -
Hedge funds 5.3% 2128 - -
tnsurance policy (buy-in) 2.8% 7.0 - -
Cash and other 1.8%4 601 2.2% 4.2
Total market value of assets 6197 23
Present value of plan liabilities (530.0) (33.1
Net pension asset {liability) 89.7 17.8)

[he trustees of NTL Pension Plan purchased an insurance contract thae will pay an income stream to the plan
which is expected to match all future cash outflows in respect of certain liabilives. The fair value of this
insurance contract is presented as an asset of the plan and is measured based on the future cash flows to be
received under the contract discounted using the same discount rate used to measure the associated liabilities,

Actuarial assumptions }
The following are the principal actuarial assumptions a1 the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages):

2019 2018
UK Ireland UK freland
Discount rate 2.0% 1.2% 2.8% 2.2%
Future satary increases 2.9%, N°a 3.2% {40°

T'he assumption for future salary increases is no longer applicable for the Virgin Viedia Irefand Limited efined
Benefit Plan after 31 July 2005 as the Plan was closed to future accruai from this date and benefits are no longer
linked to salaries. Members of the L K pension schemes who remained emploved by the group retain their
salars link tor revatuation of their deferred benefits,

The assumptions relating fo longevity underlying the pension habiities a1 the balance sheet date are based on
standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in lonsevits, The
assumplions are equisvatent 1 expecting a 60-vear ald to live for 3 number ol vears as follows:

thk
2019 2018
Current penasioner aged 60 (male) 27.3 272
Current pensioner aged 60« temale) 291 29.0
Future retiree upen reaching 60 (male 288 287
Future retirce upon reaching 60 (femalet 06 06
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27 Pension and other post-retirement benefits {continued)

28

The assumptions for the \irgin Media lretand Limited pension scheme are equivalent to expecting a 63-vear
old to live for a number of years as follows:

Ireland
2019 2018
Current pensionet aged 65 (male) 25 224
Current pensioner aged 65 (female) 243 245
Future retiree upon reaching 65 imale) 242 2410
Future retiree upon reaching 65 1female) 26.2 26.1

Sensitivity analysis

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions set out above. The following
table summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period would have
increased ‘(decreased) as a result of a change in the respective assumptions by 0.25 percent.

2019 2018
UK Ireland Uk Ireland
Discount rate 124.1) (1. 220 (1.5
tnflation 23 04 3.1 [

In valuing the assets of the UK pension fund at 31 December 2019. mortality assumplions have been made as
indicated ubove. If life expectancy had been changed 1o assume that all members of the tund lived for one year
longer, the value of the reported liabilities at 31 December 2019 would have increased by £26.2 million before
deferred 1ax for the UK pensions. Life expectancy sensitivity assessment has not been carried out on the lrish
pension scheme.

The above sensitivities are based on the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at the date of the
last full actuarial valuation at 31 December 2019 and are applied to adjust the defined benefit obligation at the
end of the reporting period for the assumptions concerned. Whilst the analysis does not 1ahe account of the full
distribution of cash Aows expected under the plan. it does provide an approximation to the sensitivity of the
assumptions shown,

Funding
The group expects to contribute £2.4 mitlion to the defined benefit pensien plans in 2020.

Related party transactions
During the year, the group entered into transactions in the ordinary course of business with uther related parties,

Transactions entered imo during the vear. and trading balances cutstanding at 31 Devember with other related
parties. are as follows:

Services Interest Interest Amounts Amounts
rendered by charged to  charged by owed by uwed to
related related relsated related related
party party party party party
Reluted parey £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Parent undertakings
2009 - - - - (322
2008 . - - - - 133
L etlow subsidzns
undertaksngs
2019 - - - 16 -
2018 - - - - {37
L iberts Gilobgl proup
underlakings
20y (225 . RERR S - 353 148.9)
2018 (1569) 33d (.3 h R 1639
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28 Related party transactions (continued)

Parest undertakings

The group is headed by Virgia M ledia Inc. and has been indebted to the group. which receives interest income
according 1o the terms of ¢ach loan agreement. The group recharges the ultimate parent company For certain
costs directly attributed 10 the operations of that company including altecable payroll and related expenses.

Fellow subsicliary underiaking

The net recovery of debts by Virgin hMedia Limited relating to the customers of fellow subsidiary undentakings.
namely Virgin Vledia Mobile Finance Limited, through centralised debt collection and treasury operations.
generates trading balances which are offset by operating expenses and capital purchases that are also recharged
by Virgin ‘edia Limited. Virgin Media Limited is an indirect subsidiary of the company whilst Virgin Media
hobile Finance Limited s vutside the group headed by the company.

Liberiy Liroup unclertchings

The company’s ultimate parent is Liberty Global ple which also controls the group and the Virgin Mledia group.
Certain debt raised by the group has been passed up to Liberty Giobal entities that sit outside the Virgin Media
group. The debt of £4.926.4 million (see note 12) ateracts interest which Liberty Global ertities pay to the group
according to the terms of cach loan arrangement.

Ferms and vomdinons of runsactions sith reluted parties

The terms of the loans pavable to parent undertakings are as outlined in note 18, Certain expenses are
specifically atiributable to each company in the group. Where costs are incurred by Virgin Media Limited on
behalf of other group companies. expenses are allocated to the other group companies on a basis that. in the
opinion of the directors, is reasonable.

Compensation of key management personnel {incloding directors)
The compensation paid of payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Short-term employee benefits 0.5 4.2
Post-empioy memt benetits 0.1 -

Non-equity incentive plan 33 3.4

Share based payments 4.6 1.9

18.5 9.3

Key managerment represents directors and members of Virgin Media's Uvecutive Commintee,
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings

The investments in which the group heid at teast 20%0 of the nominal value of any cfass of share capital. all of
which are unlisted. are as follows. All are registered in £ngland and Wales unless otherwise noted.

Propurtion
of
vty Fisshiy
und
- . Principal
Nubxidian Holding  shares held L
UUHVHC Y
Direct sharcholdings of Virgin Media Finance PLC
Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limited Ordinary 100°a Finance
Indirect shareholdings
NTL (Triangle) LLC = Common Stock 100% Holding
nt! Business Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
ntl CableComms Group Limited Ordinary 160% Holding
nt Glasgow I Ordinary 56% Telecoms
ot Kirklees . Ordinary 520, Telecoms
Virgin Media Business Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Media Investments Limited Ordinary 100% Finance
Virgin Media Ireland Limited v Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Media Limited . Ordinary 1000 Telecoms
Virgin Media Payments Limited Ordinary 100¥% Collections
Virgin Media Senior Investments Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
Virgin Media Whotesale Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Maobile Telecoms Limited : Ordinary 1000 Telecoms
Indirect sharcholdings - guaranteed under section 349 ( C ) of the Companies Act 2006
BCMY Limited Ordinary 100°%6 Dormant
Birmingham Cabte Corporation Limited Ordinary 100°%0 Dormant
Birmingham Cable Limited Ordinary 100° o Dormamt
Cable London Limited Ordinary 100°%0 Dormant
CableTe! Herts and Beds Limited Ordinary 100°0 Dormant
CableTel Northern Ireland Limited B Ovdinan 100°0 Dormant
CableTel Surrey and Hampshire Limited Ordinan 160% Dormant
Eurobell (Holdings} Limited Ordinary 100°0 Holding
ntl {B) Limited Ordinary 100% Halding
ntl {Broadland) Limited Ordinary 106%a Dormant
ntl (CW ) Corporation Limited Ordinary 100°o Dormant
ntl 1 South East) Limited Ordinany 100% Diormant
ntl (V) Ordinary 16000, Dormant
nil CableComns Surcey Ordinary 140 o Dormant
nth Midlands Limited Ordinary 1143% 0 Dormant
ati National Networks Limited Ordinan 10" Dormant
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

tadirect shareholdings - guaranteed ender section 349 ( C } of the Compunies Act 2006 (continued)
Praportion
o
varing righis
and
Prinvipul

activites

Flolding  shares held

Nubsidiary
S . . C 1
nt} Pension Trustees 1 Limited Ordinary 1 orporate
Trusiee
ntl Pension Trustees Limited Ordinary 100°s Corporate
y Trustee
ntl South Central Linvited Qedinary 100%s Domant
nil Telecom Services Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant

X t
ntl Frustees Limited Ordinary 100%0 Corporate
Trustee
Telewest Commugications (Dundee & Perth) Limited X Oxdinary 100°0 Domant
Felewest Commugications (Glenrothes) Limited X Ordinary 100%0 Dormant
. . ienti i . N i
I?Icchsl Communicatipns (Midlands and North West) Ordinary 000 Dosmant
Limited

Telewest Communications {North East) Limited Ordinary 190%a Hulding
Telawest Cammunications {Scottand) Limited z Ordinany 1001%5 Dormant
Telewest Communications (South East) Limited Ordinary 100°s Dormant
Telewest {ommunications i South West) Limited Ordinary 100% Durmant
Telewest Communications | Tyneside) Limited Ordinary 100%0 Holding
Telewest Communications Cable Limited Ordinary 100%0 Dormant
Theseus No. | Limited Ordinary 100°, Holding
| heseus No.2 Limited Ordinary 1LV Haolding
Virgin Media Employee Medical Trust Limited Ordinary 100°0 Corporaic
Trustee
Virgin Media PCHC I Limited Ordinary 100%e Dormard
virgin Media POHC Limited Ordinary 1H°, Dormant
N ransfers 1No 4 Limited Ordinary 100°%, Dommani
Yorkshire Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 100°4 Dormant

The company will issue a guarantee under Section 39K CY of the Companies Agt 2006 for the vear ended 31
December 2019 in respect of the wholly owned dormant subsidiaries listed above in section ~Indirect
sharchoidings  guaranteed under Section 394C) of the Companies Act 20067, The company guarantees sl
otttstanding Jiabilities to which the subsidiary company is subject to at 31 December 2009, until they are
saustied m full and the guarantee is enforceable against the company by any person 10 whom the subsidiany
company is lable in respect of those liabilities. These dormant subsidiaries have laken advantage of the
exemption from preparing individual accounts tor the vear ended 31 December 2019 by virue of Sceeoon
30400 of the Companies Acr 2006,

The guarantee under Section 39-4C) of the Companies Act 2006 is in respect of the aboyve subsidiaries. the
matority of which are 100% owned. either directly or indirectly.
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 479 ( A ) of the Companies Act 2006

Proportion

oof

voting reghey

and
Hotding  shares held Frincipal
dulivies

Subsidiary

Bitbuzz LK Limited Ordinary 1060°a Telecoms
Cable on Demand Limited Ordinary 1000, Darmant
Cascy Cablevision Limnied ¥ Ordinary 100%0 Telecoms
Channel 6 Broadcasting Limited ¥ Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Cullen Broadcasting [.imited ¥ Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Diamond Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 100%0 Holding
Flextech Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
General Cable Limited Ordinary 100°%5 Holdirg
Kish Media Limited ¥ Ordinary 100%0 Dormmant
Matcheo Limied Ordinary 76”0 Dormant
atl {(CWC) Limited Ordinary 100%, Dormant
NTL CabteComms Group, LLC I Common stock 100°% Dormant
ntl Comenunications Services Limited Ordinary 100°0 Holding
ntl Glasgow Holdings Limited H Ordinary 51% Holding
nt! Kirklees Holdings Limited ¢ Ordinary 51% Holding
mtl Rectangle Limited Ordinary 100°, Holding
P.B.N. Holdings b4 Ordinary 100°a Holding
Telewest Communications Networks Limited Ordinary 100%0 Holding
Telewest Limited Ordinary 100%s Holding
Tullamore Beta Limited W Ordinary 100%, Holding
TV Three Enterprises Limited W Ordinary 100% Dormant
TV Three Sales Limited A Ordinary 100% Dormant
UPC Broadband Ireland Limited b Ordinary 100°, Holding
Virgin Media Bristot LLC = Common stock 100°% Finance
Virgin Media Finco Limited Ordinary 100°, Finance
Vingin Media Operations Limited Ordinary 100°0 Holding
Virgin Media Secretaries Limited Ordinary 100°%0 Dormant
Virgin Media Secured Finance PLC Ordinary 100°%0 Finance
Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited Ordinary 100%0 Finance
Virgin Media Television bimited ¥ Ordinary 1002, Telecoms
\irgin WiFi Limited Ordinary 100% 4 telecoms
VAT lreland Geoup Limited Ordinary 100° Holding

Al companies are registered at 300 Brouwk Drive, Reading, United Kingdom. RG2 6UL . unless otherwise nowed

below:

B Unit 3. Blackstaft Road. Kennedy Way Industrizl Estate, Belfast. BTEI GAP

¥ Mlacken ifouse. 3940 \layor Street L pper. Dublin 1. DU COWE

% 1 South Gy le Crescent Lane. Edinburgh. EH 12 9EG

= 23] Litde Falls Drive. Wilmington, DE 19808, These entities are registered in the L SA.
€ 13530 Wewatta Street. Suite 1000, Denver, CO 80202
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30

31

Principal subsidiary undertakings {continued)

The company has issued a guarantee under Section 479(C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended il
December 2019 in respect of the subsidiaries listed above in section “Indirect sharcholdings - guarantged under
Section 479%C) of the Companies Act 2006”7, The company guarantees all ontstanding liabilities 1 which the
subsidiary company is subject to at 31 December 2019, until they are satisfied in full and the guarantee is
enforceable against the company by any person (o whom the subsidiary company is liable in respect of those
liabilities. These active subsidiaries have ahen advantage of the exemption from audit of individual accounts
for the vear ended 31 December 2019 by vinue of Section 479 A of the Companies Act 2006,

The gusrantee under Section $79C) of the Compganies Act 2006 is in respect of the above subsidiaries, the
majority of which are 100% owned, either directly or indirectly.

Parent undertaking and controlling party
The company’s immediate parent undertaking is Virgin Media Communications Limited.

The smatlest and largest proup of which the company is a member and in to which the company s accounts
were consolidated at 31 December 2019 are Virgin Medig 1nc. and Liberty Global ple. respectively.

The company’s ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party at 31 December 20149 was Libenty Global ple.

Copies of the Virgin Media group accounts referred to above which include the results of the company are
avaitable from the company secretary. Virgin Media, 500 Brook Drive, Reading, United Kingdom, RG2 607"

In addition copies of the consolidated Liberty Global ple accounts are available on Liberty Giobal's website st
www. liberty global.com or from the company secretary. Liberty Global ple. Griffin House, 161 Hammersmith
Roud, London. United Kmngdom W6 8BS,

Post Balance Sheet Events

COVID-19

in March 2020. the World Healin Organization declared the recent outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
{COVID-19) 1o be a global pandemic. [n response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
imposed by povernments worldwide, including travel restrictions, restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses.

T hese measures have adversehy impacted the global economy. disrupted global suppdy chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of linancial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse econemic impact resulting trom the
preventative measures 1hen to contain or mitigate its outbreak. an extended peried of global economic
disruption could have & material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and results of operations in
future periods.

Pending joint v enture (ransaction

On 7 May 2020, Liberiy Global entered inty a Contribution Agreement with, among others, Tetefonica, SA
1 TeleTonicad, Pursuant to this agreement. Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to Yorm a S0°5{1 juint venture.,
which will combine Virgin \ledia’s vperations in the UK with Telefonica™s mobile business in the LK to create
a nativnwide integrated communications provider.

I'he completion of this transaction is subject to cenain conditions, including competition clearance by the
applicable regulatory authorities. 1t is anticipated that the transaction will close areund the middle of 2021, The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination rights, including a right of the parties to werminate
the agreement it the transaction has pot closed within raenty-four months following the date of the agreement,
which may be estended by six months under certain circumstances.
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31 Post Balance Sheet Events (continued)

Financing tramsactions

In May 2020. Virgin \Media Trade Rececivables Financing plc. a third-party special purpose financing entity.
was created for the purpose of facilitating the offering of certain notes. These notes are collateralised by certain
trade receivables of Virgin Media. creating a variable imerest in which Virgin hledia is the primary beneficiary
and, accordingly. Virgin Media. and ultimatety Liberty Global. are required to consolidate Virgin Media Trade
Receivables Financing pic. The offering of these notes resulted in net proceeds of £214.4 million.

In June 2020. Virgin Media completed various financing transactions, as further described below.

Senior notes transactions

The group issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675 million. The net proceeds. together with the
May 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €460 million and $388.7 million outstanding principal amount
of 2025 senior notes,

The group issued an additional 2030 senior notes with poncipal amounts of $250 million €500 million. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) 10 redeem in full $497 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 miltion and £44.1 million outstanding principal amounis of
existing 2022 senior noles and (2) for goneral corporate purposes.

The new secured noles rank pari-passu with the group's existing secured notes and subject to certain exceptions,
share in the same guarantees and security granted in Favour of its existing secured notes,

Senior secured notes transactions
The group issued 2030 senior secured notes with principal amounts of $650 million and £450 million. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used {1} 10 redeem in full £525 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2027 senior secured notes. (2} to redeem in full £360 million vutstanding principal amounts
of existing 2029 senior secured notes. (3) £80.0 million of the £521.3 million cutstanding principal amoumt of
existing 2025 senior secured notes.

The new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing senior secured notes and senmior secured
credit facility, and subject to certain exceptions, share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of
its existing senior secured notes.

Vendor financing notes transactions

Vingin Media Vendor Financing Notes |1l Designated Activity Company {Virgin Media Financing 111
Company) and Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes IV Designated Activitn Company (Virgin Media
Financing IV Company. and together with Virgin Media Financing [§ Company. the 2020 V\I Financing
Companies) were created for the purpose of issuing certain vendor financing notes. The 2020 VN Financing
Companies are thirg-party special purpose financing entities that are not consofidated by Virgin Media or
Libeny Global.

Virgin Media Financing 11l Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of £300 miltion and
£400 million. Virgin \ledia Financing 1N Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of
$500 million. The tet proceeds from the June 2020 Vendor Financing bhotes were used by the 2020 W\
Financing Companies to purchase certain venduor-financed receivables of Virgin Media and its subsidiaries from
pres ously -existing third-party special purpose financing entities ¢the Original VM Financing Companies) and
various other third parties
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Notes
Fived assets
lavestments 3
Carrent assets
Dehtors due afier one year 6
Debtors due within one vear 6
Cash at bank and in hand
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 7
Net current assets
Total assets less curreat liabilities
Creditors: amounts falting due afier more than one
year S
et linbilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital 10
Share premium account 1
Capital contribution I
Accurnulated losses 1

Shareholders’ deficit

I'he notes on pages 78 to 87 form pan of the financial statements.

The financia) statements were approved and authorised fot issue by the board and were signed on

2R September 2020,

R G MeNeil
Director

Company Registration Number: 13061787

76

2019 2018

£ million £ million
46994 46094
2.000.0 2.650.5
339 547
i4 .
20353 27060
(329.5) (410.6)
17658 22954
6,405 2 6.994.8
{9.013.5) (0.177.0n
(2.608.3} (2182
o1 0.1
6259 6259
5.0 50
(3.239.0 (28132
126083 12,182.%)

its behaly on



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Share Treasury Profit
Share premium  Capital shares and loss
capital account contribution reserve  account Total
£ million £million £wmillion £ million £ million £ million
At | lanuary 2019 0.1 625.9 5.0 - (2.813.2y (21822
Comprehensive income for the year
L.oss for the vear - - - - (426.11 (426.11
As at December 2019 0.] 6259 3.0 - 13.239.3) _(2.608.3)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3t DECEMBER 2018
Share Treasury Profit
Share premium  Capital shares and loss .
capital account contribution reserve account Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

At ! January 2018 0.1 33232 50 (28802 (2.2176) (18695
Comprehensive income for the year
f.oss for the year - - - - {495.6) 1495.6)
Shares issued during the year - 182.9 - 182.9
Shares cancelled during the vear - (2.880.2) - 18802 - 0.0
Fotal transactions with owners - (2.697.3) - 2.880.2 - 1829
As al December 2018 0.1 625.9 3.0 - (2.813.2) (2,182

Fhe notes on pages 78 w 87 lorm pant of these financial statements.
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f Company information

Virgin Nedia Finance PLC (the “company ™) is a private company incorporated. domiciled and registered in the
UK The registered number is 05061787 and the registered address is 300 Brook Drive. Reading, United Kingdom.
RG2 6L,

2 Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies is set out below. All accounting policies have been applied
consistently. unless noted below.,

21 Basis of accounting

These financiul statements were prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost basis in
accordance with the Companigs Act 2006 and the Financial Reporting Standard 103 Reduced Disclosure
Framework ("FRS 1017),

In preparing these tinancial statements. the company applies the recogaition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of Intermational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EL (~Adopted IFRSs™). but mahkes
amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Actl 2006 and has set oul below where
advantare of the FRS 107 disclosure exemptions has been tahen.

I he company “s ultimate parent undertaking, {.iberty Global plc, includes the company in its consolidated financial
statements. Fhe consolidated financial staiements of Liberty Global ple are prepared in accordance with
Inteenational Financial Reporting Standards and are avatlabie to the public and may be obained from Liberty
Global®s website at www libertyglobal.com,

In these financial statements. the company has applied the exemptions avaifable under FRS 10} in respect of the
following disclosures., where required equivalent disclosures are included within the company's consolidated
financial statements:

a cash Mlow statement and related notes:

disclosures in respect of related party transactions with fellow group undertakings:

disclosures in respect of capital management:

the effects of new but not yer effective IFRSs:

disclosures in respect of the compensation of hey management personnel; and

disclosures of transactions with & maragement entity that provides key management personnel services to
the company.

2 & & & & »

As the consolidated financial statements of the compans include the equivalent disclosures. the company has
also taken the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:

& [FRS 2 Share Basced Pay ments in respect of group settled share based pay menrs: and
e certain disclosures required by TERS 13 [air Value Measurement and the disclosures required by IFRS 7
Financial Instrument Disclosures.

o profit and toss avvount i presented by the company as permitted by Section {08 of the Companies Act 2006,
.2 (aing concern

[ he fingncial statements have been approved on the basis that the company remains s going concern. 1 he Followmye
paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have reached their conclusion

It is Virgin Media's practice for operational and financial management to be undertahen at a group level sather than
for individual entities that are whaliy owned by the group. 1 reasury operations and cash management for ail of
Liberry Global™s wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. Ay part of normal
business practice, regular cash flow forecasts for both short and long term commitments are undertahen at group
level.
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2 Accounting policies {continued)
2.2 Going concern (continued)

Forecasts and projections prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. indicate that cash on hand, together with
cash from operations, repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn
revolving credit facilities. are expected to be sufficient for the Virgin Media group's and hence the company s cash
requirements through to at least 12 months from the approvat of these financial statements.

Whilst the detaileq cash flow forecasts are prepared at the group level, the directors have also assessed the position
of the company. Notwithstanding net liabifities of €2.608.3 million as at 31 December 2019 and z loss for the year
end of £426.1 million. this assessment indicates that. taking account of reasonably possible downsides. the company
will have sufficient resources. through funding from fellow subsidiary companies 10 meet its liabilities as they fall
due for that period. Virgin Media Inc has indicated its intention to continue to make such funds available Lo the
company as are needed.

As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for financial support. the directors achnow ledge that
there can be no centainty that this support will continue although, at the date of approval of these financial
statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not do so. Consequently, the directors are confident that the
company will have sufficient funds to continue 1o meet its liabilities as they fatl due for at least 12 months from the
date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a going concem basis.
Consideration of the potential impact of COVID-19 has nut aiered this conclusion.

2.3 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are transiated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
The resulting exchange differences are taken 1o the profit and loss account.

2.4 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

AH loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. A fler initial
recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase. settlement or otherwise vancellation of liabilities are recognised
respectively in finance income and finance costs.

Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and set ofT against the
borrowings to which they relate. Defereed finance costs are amortised over the term of the related debt using the
effective interest method.

2.5 Investments

Investments are recorded at cost. less prowvision lor impairment as appropriate.  The company assesses at each
reporting date whether there is an indication that an investment may be impaired. 1f any such indication exists. the
company niakes an estimate of the inyestment’s recoverable amount. Where the carrnving amoumt of an investment
eaceeds MS recoverable amount. the imsestment is considered impatred and is written down fo s recoverable
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed onty i there was an gvent not foreseen in the original
impairment calculations, such as a change in use of the invesiment or a change in economic conditions. The
reversal of impairment loss would be to the extent of the lower of the recoverable amount and the carry ing amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised lor the mvestment ir prior years.

2.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The group has established policies and provedures to govern the management of its exposure to interest rale and
foreign currency exchange rate risks. through the use of derivative financial instruments, inciuding interest rate

SWaps. Cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate contracts.

Derivative financial instrumenis are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date.
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Derivatives are recopnised as financial asscts when the fair value s positive and as liabilities when the Fair value is
negative.

Z  Accounting policies (continued)
2.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)

The foreign currency torward raie contracts, imerest rate swaps and ¢ross-currency interest rate swaps are valued
using internal models based on observable inputs. counterparty valuaticns or market transactions in either the listed
or gver-thecounter markets. adjusted for non-pertormance risk. Non-performance risk is based upon quoted credit
default spreads for counterparties to the contracts and swaps. Derivative contracts which are subject to master
netting arrangements are not offset and have not provided. nor require, cash collateral with any counterparty,

While these instruments are subject 1o the risk ot loss from changes in exchange rates and inferest rates. these losses
would genenally be offset by gains in the related exposures. Financial instruments are only used 1o hedge underlying
vommercial exposures. The yroup does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative trading
purposes. nor does it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that is
greater than the exposure 10 be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedges. the hedging refationship is documenied at its inception. This
documentation identifics the hedging instrument, the hedged frem or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged
and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception to be highly
eftective.

Fhe group designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges, when hedging exposure te variability in the fair
value of recognised assets or liabilitics or Hrm commitments, or as cashflow hedges. when hedging exposure 1o
variability in cash flows that are either aitributable to a particular rish associated with a recogmised asset or liability
or a highly probabte forecast transaction

Derivatives that are not part of an effective hedging relationship. as set out in IFRS 9, must be classified as held for
trading and measured at fair value through protit or loss.

The weatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging retationship and are treated as follows:

Cash Mlow hedges

For cash flow hedges. the effective portion of the gain or foss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income. while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or luss. Amounts taken to other
compreheasive income are reclassified 1o the profit and loss account when the hedged transaction is recognised in
profit or foss, such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs, in the same line of the profit and loss account as the
recognised hedeed item. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-tinancial asset or fiability. the gains and losses
previously accumufated in equity are transferred W the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or
liability.

If a forecast transaction is no longer expecled 1o oceur. the gain or loss accumulated in equits is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. It the hedging instrument expires or is sold. lerminated or exercised without
replacement or rollover, or i ity designation as a hedge is revoked. amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income remain in equity until the forecast transaction oceurs and are reclassified to the profit and
toss account.

Fzir value hedges

For fair value hedges. the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in profit or loss
immediately. together with any changes i the fair value of the hedped asset or liahilits that are atributable 10 the
hedzed risk. The change in the fair vatue of the hedping instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable 10
the hedged rish are recognised in the fine of the profit and loss account refating to the hedged item.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold. temminated or exercised without replacement or rolfover, or if its
designation as a hedge is revohed. then the fair value adjustment lo the carny ing amount of the hedged ilem arising
from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or less from that date,
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3} Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the company *s accounting policies which are described above. management has not made
any critical judgements that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. except
for: ’

Carrying value of investmenits

Investmenis are held at cost less any necessary provision for impairment. Where the impairment assessment did not
pravide any indication of impairment, no provision is required. 1f any such indications exist. the camrying vaiue of
an investment is written down 10 ifs recoverable amount.

Recoverability of intercompany deitors
Intercompany debtors are stated at their recoverable amount less any necessary provision. Recoverability of

imercompany debtors is assessed annuaHy and a provision is recognised if any indications exist that the deblor is not
considered recoverable.

Fair value emtent of fi dal instruments

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments ¢where active market
quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent
with how market paricipants would price the instrurent.

Management bases its assumplions on observablc data as far as possible but this is not always available. In that case
management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that would
be achieved in an arm's ienyth transaction at the reporting date (see note 9),

4 Loss attributable to members of the parent company
The loss in the accounts of the parent company was £426.1 million (2018: loss of £495.6 million.

5 Investments

£ million
Cost and net book value:
At | January 2019 4.699.4
At 31 December 2019 TTi690.4
Net book value:
At 31 December 2019 1.699 4
At 31 December 2018 . 4690 .4

Details of the principal nvestments in which the group or the company holds at least 20°0 of the numinal value of
any class of share capital, all of which are unbisted. can be seen in note 29 to the consoiidated fimancial statements.

In the opinion of the directors the aggregate value of the investments in subsidian undertakings is aot less than the
amount at which they are stated in the financial statemems,
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& Debtors
2019 2018
£ mithion £ million
Due alter one year

Loan notes due from group undertakings 1.833.0 22778
Derivative financial assets l67.0 3728
2.000.0 2.630.3

Due within one year
Derivative finangial assets 339 587
33.9 35.7

Amounts owed by group undertakipgs due after one year represent lvan notes which had a carrying value of
£1,833.0 milldon (2018 - £2.227.8 miilion) at the balance sheel date, Loan notes are denominated in sterling,

bear interest of 4.89%0 (subject 10 adjustment) and mature in April 2026.

7 Creditors: amounts fatling due within one year

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Derivative financial liabilities 6.6 55
Tnterest on loan notes due to group undertahings 49.2 199
Imerest payvable on senior notes 23 286
Amuounts owed to group underakings 748 756
L.oan notes due to group undertakings 175.8 2810
3295 410.6

Loan notes due 1o group undertahings due within one vear include loan notes which had a camy ing value of’
£175.8 million (20E% - £281.0 million} at the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominated in sierling and L S
dollar, bear interest ranging from 1.32% to 7.33%0 and are repayable on demand.

Amounts owed to group undertahings are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

8 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than oue vear

2019 p1ith:]

£ million £ million

Luan notes dug to group undertakings 7.78%.7 76084
Senior holes 1.187.3 1.558.7
Derivative Anancial Tiabitities 36.5 94
9.011,5 9770

Loan notes due to group undenakings falling due alter more than one year had 4 carmang value of £7.789.7
mitlion 12018 - £7.608 4 a1 the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominated in sterling and 1 S dollar. bear
inteecst gt 4.89%, (subject to adjustment), and mature between April 2026 and January 2028
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8  Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Borrowings are repay able as follows:
2009 2018

£ million £ million

Amounts falling due:

In more than two years but not more than five years 500.2 151.5
fn more than five years 85043 9.023.5
9.013.5 9,177.0

Borrowings not wholly repayabie within five years are as follows:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Loan notes due to group undertakings 7.789.7 7.608 .4
Senior notes 678.1 1.407.2
Derivatives liabilities 36.5 99
8.504.3 9.025.5
Total borrowings comprise: 2019 2018
£ million £ mitlion
5.25% U.S. doliar senior notes due 2022 B8 9.6
4.875% U.S. dollar senior notes due 2022 54.0 58.3
5.125% Sterling senior notes due 2022 44,1 4.1
6.00% U.S. dollar senior notes due 2024 374.7 390.0
6.375% Sterling dollar senior notes due 2024 - 3000
5.75% LS dollar senior notes due 2025 2931 3138
4.5% Euro senior notes due 2025 3894 4133
1,194.1° 1.569.1
L.ess 1ssue costs 16.8) (O
{otal senior notes 1.187.3 1.558.7

Financiai instruments
The company has the following senior notes in issue as at 31 December 2019:

1) 5.25% senior notes due 15 Februany 2022 the principal amaount at maturity is $51.3 million. Interest is
payable semi-annually on 15 February and 15 August commencing 15 August 2012,

23 4.875% senior notes due 15 Februarny 2022 - the principal amount at maturity is $71.6 million. Interest is
payable semi-annually on |5 February and 13 August commencing {5 February 2015,

31 5.425% seaior notes due 15 Februan 2022 the principal amount at maturity is £344.1 million. Interest is
pavable semi-annually on 15 February and |5 August commencing 15 Fébruary 2013,

&) 65.00%0 senior notes due 15 October 2024 the principal amount a1 nuaturity is $497.0 miltion. Interest is
pavable semi-annually on 15 April and 15 October commencing 15 April 2015,

5) 5,75% senior noted due 15 January 2025 the principal amount at maturity is S38R.7 million. Interest is
payable semi-annually vn 15 januany and 15 July commencing 15 July 2015, :

6) 4.50%0 senior notes due !5 January 2025 - the principal amount at matyrits is €460.0 million. Interest is
pavable semi-annually on 13 January and 15 Jufy commencing 15 July 20185,

83



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

8 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one ¥ear (continued)

Virgin VMedia Inc.. a parent company of the company. and all the intermediate holding companies. guarantee
the senior notes on a senior basis. Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limited, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the company. guaraniecs the senior notes on a senior subordinated basis and has no significant
assets of its own other than its investments in its subsidiaries. The company has given a tull and unconditional
guarantee of all amounts payable under the terms of the Virgin Media group’s senior secured credit facitity and
senior secured notes.

In June 2020. Virgin Media completed various financing transactions, see note 31 in the consolidated financial
statements.

9  Finaancial instruments

2009 2018
£ million £ million
Financial assets

Financial assels measured at fair value through profit or loss 200.9 428.2
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost 1.833.0 2137718
20136 2,706 0

Financial liabilities
Finangial liabilitics measured at fair value through profit or loss 3.1 (154
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost {92090} 19.572.2

19.343.0) 19.587.6)

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise inlerest rate swaps and cross currency
interest rate Swaps.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise amounts owed by group undertakings.

Financial liabilities measured a1 fair value through profit ur loss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
interest rate swaps and certain other loans.

Fimancial habilities measured at amonrtised cost comprise senior secured notes net of issue costs. interest
payable on senior notes. amounts owed 1o group undertakings. aceruals and deferred income.

Derivative financial instruments are designed to mitigate the risks experienced by the company. 1he company
has obligations in a combination of LS. dotlars and sterling at fixed and variable interest rates. As a result. the
company s exposed 10 varizbility in its cush ffows and earnings reseliing from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates.

The group's objective in managing its exposure to interest rate and foreign cursency exchange rates is to
decrease the volatfiey of it earnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underfyiny rates. The proup has
established policies and procedutes 1o povern these exposures and has entered into derivative financial
instruments including interest rale swaps, cross-cutrency imterest swaps and foreign curreney forward rate
contracts. It is the group's policy pot to enter into derivative financial instruments tor speculative trading
purposes. nor W enter into derivative fnancial instruments with a level of compiexity or with a rish that is
greater than the exposure o be managed T he amounts below include amounts relating to short term as well as
long werm creditors.,

tinancial and operational risk management is undertahen as part of the group’s operations as a whole, These are
censidered in more detail in the consolidated financial statements of the group,

I'he derivative financial instruments held by the company are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet in

acvordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The fair values of these derivaiive fimancial instruments arc .
vilued using internal madels based on observable inputs. counterparty valuations, or market transactions in

cither the Fisted or over-the counter marhets, adjusted for non-performance risk,
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Financial instruments {continued}

Cross currency swap contracts

The company holds the following outstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media
group:

Final Hedge type Notional amount  Notioaal amount  Interest raie due  Interest rate due
maturity due to due from 10 counterparty from counlerparty
date counterparty counterparty
000 ‘000

Feb-22 ot designated $63,271 £4.462 : 5.3% 3.7%
Feb-22 Not designated §74.310 £52.219 1.9% 4%
Oct-24 Not designated S 497.000 £349.250 6.0% 4.5%
Jan-26 Not designated $3.400,000 £2.389.234 3.5% 3499

Interest rate swap contracts

The company holds the following outstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media
group:

Final Hedge type Notional amount  Notional amount  Interest rate due  [nterest rate due
maturity duc to due from to counterparty from counterparty
date counterparty counterparty
000 Q00

Jan-27 Not designated £400.000 £400.000 4.29% 4.80%
Nov-27 Mol designated £500.000 £500.000 4.39% -4.83%
Share capital

2019 2018

£ 000 £ 000
Motted, called up and fully paid
76184 (2018: 76,184) vrdinary shares of £1 each 76 76
Reserves

Share capital

I he balance «lassificd as share capital represents the nominal vajue on issue of the company's share capital.
comprising £1 ordinary shares.

Nhare premium qucoent

Share premium represens the amount of consideration received for the company s share vapital in excess of the
nominal vatug at shares issued.

Capital contribution

The £5 million capital contribution was received from Virgin Media Communications Limited as part of a
comprehensive group restructuning in 2006,

o
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12

13

Reserves (continued)
{reasury shures reserve

The treasury share reserve represented the amount of the company’s equity share capital 1ogether with share
premium held by VMFH Limited, which was a wholly owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Finance PLC. VMEFH
Limited acquired 19.7% of the company’s shares from Virgin Media Communications Limited on 29
December 2014, The company subsequently acquircd [00% of the share capital of VMFH Limited from Virgin
Media Communications Limited. During 2018, as result of a group wide restructure. VMNFH distributed its
shares in the company 10 the company which were subsequently cancelled.

tevumulated lossex

trciudes at! current and prior period retained profits and losses.

Auditer’s and directors” remuneration

Fees paid to KPMG £.LP and #15 assoviates for non-audit services to the parent company itseil are not disclosed
in the individual accounts ot Virgin Medin Finance PLC because group financial statements are prepared which
disclose such fees on a consolidated basis,

The directors received no remunceration for qualifving services as directors of this company. Alt directors’
remuneration is paid and disclosed in the group’s inancial statements,

Guarantees

I'he company, along with fellow group undenakings. is pasty to a senior secured credit facility with a syndicate
of banks. As at 31 Devember 2019, this comprised term facilities that amounted to £4.015 million (2043 -
£3.564 million) and an outstanding balance of £nil (2018 - £ily which was borrowed under revolving facilities
of £7.000 million (2018 - £675 miilion). Borrowines under the facilitivs are secured against the assets of certain
members of the group including those ot this company.

tn addition, a fellow group undertaking has issued senior secured notes which, subject to cenain exceplions.
share the same guarantées and security which have been granted in favour of the senior secured credit facitity.
The amount outstanding, under the senior secured notes at 31 December 2019 amounted W £4.491 mitlion
(2018 - £4.938 million). Borrowings under the notes are secured against the assets of certain members of the
sroup including those of this company .

Funthermore. a felfow group undertuking has issued senior notes for which the company. along with certain
fellow group undertakings. has puaranteed the notes on a senior subordinated basis. The amount outstanding
under the senior notes as at 3§ December 2019 amounted to approximately £1.194 mitlion (2018 - £1.570
million.

The company has joint and several Tiahilities under o group VAl registration.

Parent undertaking and controlling purty

The company's immediate parent undertahing is Virgin Media Communications Limited.

The smatlest and largest groups of sehich the comparn is a member and ia to which the compans s accounts
were consolidated at 31 December 2019 are Virgin Media Finance PLC and Liberty Global pic, respectively.

The company s ullimate parent undertaking and contrnlling parts at 31 December 2019 was Liberty Gilobal ple.

Copies of group avcounts referred to above which include the results of the company are available from the
company secretary, Virgin Media. 300 Brook Drive. Reading, United Kingdom, RG2 6L L .

In addition copies af the consolidated Libern Global phe accounts are available on Liberty Globat's website at
www iberty global.com or from the company secretary. 1iberty Global ple. Grittin House, 161 Hammersmith
Road. Londen, United Kinpgdom W6 8BS,
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15 Post Balance Sheet Events

COVID-19

in March 2020. the World Health Organisation declared the recent outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
1COVID-19) to be a global pandemic. In response to the COVID- 19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
impased by governments worldwide. including travel restrictions. restrictions on social activiny and the
shutdown of non-gssential businesses.

These measures have adversely impacted the global economs . disrupted zlobal supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
prevemiative measures taken 1o coniain or mitigate its oulbreak. an extended period of plobal economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and resufts of operations in
future periods.

Pending joint venture transaction

On ? May 2020. Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with, amony others. Telefonica, SA
(Telefonicat. Pursuant to this agreement. Liberny Global and Telefonica agreed 10 form a 50:50 joint venture.
which will combine Virgin Media's operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the U'K 1o create
a nationwide integrated communications provider.

The completion of this transaction is subject o certain conditions. including competition clearance by the
applicable regulatory authorities. It is anticipated that the transaction will close around the middle of 2021. The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination tights. including a right of the parties to terminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within twenty-four months foliowing the date of the agreement,
which may be extended by six months under certain circumstances.

Financing transuctions

In Supe 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions. as further described below.

Senior notes transactions

The company issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675 million. The net proceeds, together with
the Nlay 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €360 miltion and $388.7 million outstanding principal
amount of 2025 senior notes. .

The company issued an additionzl 2030 senior notes with pripcipal amoums of $250 millien €500 million. The
net proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used {11 to redeem in full 3497 miliion vutstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million outstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and (2) for general corporate purposes.

Fhe new secured notes rank pari-passu with the proup'’s existing secured notes and subect to certain exceptions.
share jn the same guarantees and security gramted in favour of its existing secured notes.
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